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Welcome to
SkyePharma PLC
SkyePharma’s mission is to become one of the world’s
leading speciality drug delivery companies, powered
through excellence in its oral and inhalation technologies.
SkyePharma strives to deliver clinical benefits for patients
by using its multiple delivery technologies to create
enhanced versions of existing pharmaceutical products.

Consolidated Income Statement 58
Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income/(Expense) 59
Consolidated Balance Sheet 60
Company Balance Sheet 61
Consolidated Statements of Changes
in Equity 62
Company Statements of Changes
in Equity 63
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 64
Notes to the Consolidated
Cash Flow Statement 65
Company Cash Flow Statement 66
Notes to the Accounts 67
Glossary of Terms 105
Advisers IBC

Overview 01
Chairman’s Statement 02
Business Review 04
Financial Review 12
Products 20

Directors & Officers 22
Report of the Directors 24
Corporate Social Responsibility 29
Corporate Governance 31
Remuneration Report 40
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 54
Independent Auditors’ Report 56

Our Business Our Governance Our Financials

Advisers

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
Apex Plaza
Reading
RG1 1YE

Solicitors
Fasken Martineau LLP
17 Hanover Square
London
W1S 1HU

Clifford Chance LLP
10 Upper Bank Street
London
E14 5JJ

Depositary
Bank of New York Mellon
101 Barclay Street
New York NY 10286
USA

Joint Corporate Brokers
& Financial Advisers
Credit Suisse
20 Columbus Courtyard
London
E14 4DA

Piper Jaffray Ltd
One South Place
London
EC2M 2BR
 

Bankers
HSBC Bank plc
70 Pall Mall
London
SW1 5EZ

Registrars
Capita Registrars
Northern House
Woodsome Park
Fenay Bridge
Huddersfield
West Yorkshire
HD8 0GA

WARNING TO SHAREHOLDERS – BOILER ROOM SCAMS

Over the last year, many companies have become aware that their shareholders have received unsolicited phone calls or
correspondence concerning investment matters. These are typically from overseas based “brokers”who target UK shareholders, offering
to sell them what often turn out to be worthless or high risk shares in US or UK investments. These operations are commonly known as 
 “boiler rooms ”. These “brokers” can be very persistent and extremely persuasive, and a 2006 survey by the Financial Services Authority
(FSA) has reported that the average amount lost by investors is around £20,000.

It is not just the novice investor that has been duped in this way; many of the victims had been successfully investing for several years.
Shareholders are advised to be very wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares at a discount or offers of free company reports.
If you receive any unsolicited investment advice:
■ Make sure you get the correct name of the person and organisation

■ Check that they are properly authorised by the FSA before getting involved by visiting www.fsa.gov.uk/register

■ Report the matter to the FSA either by calling 0845 606 1234 or visiting www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk

■ If the calls persist, hang up.

If you deal with an unauthorised firm, you will not be eligible to receive payment under the Financial Services Compensation Scheme.
The FSA can be contacted by completing an online form at www.fsa.gov.uk/pages/doing/regulated/law/alerts/overseas.shtml.

Details of any share dealing facilities that the Company endorses will be included in  Company mailings.

More detailed information on this or similar activity can be found on the FSA website www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk.
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Directors’ contracts
All Executive Directors’ contracts are for a fixed period of one year from date of appointment, and will continue thereafter unless
terminated by at least 12 months’ written notice. This arrangement is in line with best corporate practice for listed companies. In the event
of the termination of an Executive Director’s contract, salary and benefits will be payable during the notice period. However, consideration 
is given to requiring Executive Directors to mitigate any loss, in accordance with general legal principles, in the event of their cessation of 
employment. The Remuneration Committee will consider applying phasing of payments on notice of cessation in line with the combined
ABI and NAPF guidelines, subject to existing contractual constraints. In its considerations , the Remuneration Committee  will take into
account the need to avoid making payments for failure on an Executive Director’s termination of employment. There are no special
provisions in the contracts of employment extending notice periods on a change of control, liquidation of the Company or cessation of 
employment.

Executive contracts

Notice Period of Unexpired term
Director Contract (months) Effective Date of Contract

Ken Cunningham 12 months 24 April 2006† Rolling Contract*

Peter Grant 12 months 14 November 2006 Rolling Contract*

† As amended on 1 September 2008.
* Contract will continue until terminated on notice by either the Company or the Executive Director.

The Company recognises that Executive Directors may be invited to become Non-Executive Directors of other companies and that this 
can help broaden the skills and experience of a Director. Executive Directors are normally permitted to accept external appointments and
may retain fees for such appointments where no significant actual or potential conflict of interest arises and provided that the Director is
able to maintain his time commitments to the Company, subject to the approval of the Board.

Ken Cunningham received and retained a fee of £13,000 (2008: £13,000) from Xention Limited for acting as a Non-Executive Director of 
that Company. This appointment is not connected to his position at SkyePharma PLC.

Peter Grant did not hold any external appointments in 2009 and so neither received nor retained any fees (2008: £7,500).

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
All Non-Executive Directors including the Chairman have specific terms of engagement and their remuneration is determined by the
Executive Directors based on independent surveys of the Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology Sector and the wider market for Non-
Executive Directors. The basic fee paid to each Non-Executive Director in the year was £33,000 except for the Chairman who received
£80,000. The Non-Executive Directors receive further fees for additional work performed for the Company in respect of membership of
one of the Board Committees, for chairing one of the Committees and for acting as Senior Independent Director, except for the Chairman
who receives his basic fee only. Non-Executive Directors cannot participate in any of the Company’s share schemes and are not eligible to
receive either pension contributions or bonuses. No increase in Non-Executive Director fees was awarded in either 2009 or 2010.

All Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment are for a period of three years from the date of appointment, unless terminated by at
least one month’s written notice from either party. There is no compensation for loss of office.
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Remuneration Report
continued

Non-Executive fees

Committee Additional
Basic Fees Fees Responsibilities Total

Director (p.a.) (p.a.) (p.a.) (p.a.)

Jeremy Scudamore £80,000 — — £80,000

Alan Bray   £33,000 £11,000 £3,000 £47,000

Frank Condella* £33,000 £5,000 — £38,000

Jean-Charles Tschudin £33,000 £8,000 — £41,000

Thomas Werner £33,000 £3,000 — £36,000

* From 1 January 2010 a basic fee of £80,000 is payable to Frank Condella following his appointment as Non-Executive Chairman on that date.

Non-Executive contracts

Unexpired term of
Notice Period Effective Contract (months)

Director of Contract date as at 24 March 2010

Frank Condella 1 month 1 November 2008* 19

Alan Bray   1 month 29 September 2007 6

Jean-Charles Tschudin 1 month 1 July 2007 3

Thomas Werner 1 month 16 May 2009 26

* As amended on 10 December 2009.

Audited information
Directors’ remuneration
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Directors’ emoluments

Total Total
Fees & salary5 Benefits Bonuses6 2009 2008

Director Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive Directors

Ken Cunningham 350 19 220 589 520

Peter Grant 240 13 180 433 397

Non-Executive Directors

Frank Condella 1 37 — — 37 563

Alan Bray 47 — — 47 47

Jean-Charles Tschudin 38 — — 38 37

Thomas Werner 2 22 — — 22 —

Former Non-Executive Directors

Jeremy Scudamore 3 80 — — 80 80

Jerry Karabelas 4 14 — — 14 38

Total 1,260 1, 699

The table below sets out details of the Directors’ emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008.

Notes:
1 Frank Condella was appointed as Non-Executive Chairman on 1 January 2010, having been a Non-Executive Director throughout 2009

and an Executive Director until 1 November 2008.
2 Thomas Werner was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 16 May 2009.
3 Jeremy Scudamore stepped down from the Board on 31 December 2009.
4 Jerry Karabelas stepped down from the Board on 15 May 2009.
5 When Frank Condella stood down as Chief Executive Officer in  September  2008, the responsibilities of the Chief Operating Officer role 

were subsumed into the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer roles.
 6 Payable in 2010 in respect of performance in 2009.



50 SkyePharma PLC Annual Report 2009 www.skyepharma.com

Remuneration Report
continued

Pensions
Contributions made to defined contribution pension schemes on behalf of the Executive Directors are set out below:

Pensions

2009 2008
£’000 £’000

Ken Cunningham 61 55

Peter Grant 42 42

Directors’ interests

Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares
Director Notes 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Executive Directors

Ken Cunningham 1 9,710 9,710

Peter Grant 2 10,86 5 7,685 (Restated)

Non-Executive Directors

Frank Condella 3 31,115 31,115 (Restated)

Alan Bray 4 6,163 6,163

Jean-Charles Tschudin 5 12,578 12,578

Thomas Werner 0 0

Former Non-Executive Directors

Jeremy Scudamore 13,691 13,691

Jerry Karabelas 6 n/a 5,165

Directors’ interests
The following tables set out the interests of Directors (including the interests of their immediate families and persons connected with the
Directors) as at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008. All interests are beneficial unless otherwise stated below. Interests in Ordinary
Shares include shares acquired by the Executive Directors under the Company’s share plans:

Notes:
1 The Ordinary Shares beneficially owned by Ken Cunningham are registered in the name of Nortrust Nominees Limited.
2 1,792 of the Ordinary Shares beneficially owned by Peter Grant are registered in the name of Nortrust Nominees Limited (inclusive of shares

held under the SkyePharma PLC International Share Purchase Plan which are detailed further in the table below) and the remainder are
held in the name of L R Nominees Limited. The number of shares held as at 31 December 2008 has been restated following a reconciliation
of the holdings under the International Share Purchase Plan following the share capital reorganisation in 2008.
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Share purchase plan

31 December As at 24
Director 1 January 2009 Granted Releases Lapsed 2009 March 2010

Peter Grant 489* 1,303 — — 1,792 2,122

* The number of shares held has been restated following a reconciliation of the holdings under the International Share Purchase Plan following the share capital 
reorganisation in 2008.

3 29,869 of the Ordinary Shares beneficially owned by Frank Condella are registered in the name of NY Nominees Limited and the
remainder in the name of Nortrust Nominees Limited. The number of shares held as at 31 December 2008 has been restated following
a reconciliation of the holdings under the International Share Purchase Plan following the share capital reorganisation in 2008.

4 4,624 of the Ordinary Shares beneficially owned by Alan Bray are registered in the name of Strand Nominees Limited.
5 The Ordinary Shares beneficially owned by Jean-Charles Tschudin are registered in the name of Lynchwood Nominees Limited.
6 The number of shares held by Jerry Karabelas is no longer disclosable as he was not a Director of the Company at 31 December 2009.
7 All interests are beneficial unless otherwise stated in the notes to the table. Save as disclosed in this section, no interest exists which the 

Company is required pursuant to Section 804 of the Companies Act 2006 to enter in the register maintained pursuant to that Section.

Holdings under the SkyePharma PLC International Share Purchase Plan
The following table sets out details of Matching Shares held under the Share Purchase Plan as at 31 December 2009:

Matching Shares awarded under the Share Purchase Plan were awarded on a monthly basis (the share price range at award over the
year was between £0.8965 and £1.8865 in conjunction with the monthly share purchases). On the date of award of Matching Shares an
equivalent number of Partnership Shares was acquired by the individuals. Between 1 January and 24 March 2010 the share price range at
award was between £0.73 and £0.79 in conjunction with the monthly share purchases.
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Remuneration Report
continued

LTIP Awards

Face Value
as a%

Share Price of Salary End of
at Date Face Value at Date Max No. of Performance Performance

Director Date of Grant of Grant £’000 of Grant Shares Period Condition

Ken Cunningham 24/04/06 £20.24 250 100 12,352 Lapsed LTIP 1
(on 24/04/09)

04/05/07 £12.25 750 300 61,224‡ 04/05/10 LTIP 2

02/06/09 £1.74 263 75 150,862 02/06/12 LTIP 3

Peter Grant 04/05/07 £12.25 630 300 51,428‡ 04/05/10 LTIP 2

02/06/09 £1.74 144 60 82,758 02/06/12 LTIP 3

Frank Condella 24/04/06 £20.24 450 100 18,683* Lapsed LTIP 1*
(on 24/04/09)

04/05/07 £12.25 1,350 300 54,900*‡ 04/05/10 LTIP 2*

* Pro rata & restated.

‡ Based on the year-end share price of £0.88, none of the awards granted in 2007 are currently on track to vest.

The maximum number of Ordinary Shares available under the LTIPs in the table above have been restated to reflect the share
consolidation that took place in September 2008 and subject to the adjustment factor of 53.2601 agreed with HMRC.

Frank Condella was awarded LTIPs in 2006 and 2007 whilst acting as Chief Executive Officer of the Company. These were reduced on a pro
rata basis following his move to Non-Executive Director in November 2008 and, where the awards have not yet lapsed, remain subject to
performance conditions.
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Co-Investment agreements
The Co-Investment agreements were a special one-off share arrangement implemented for the new Executive Directors who joined the
Company in 2006. Under the terms of the arrangement, the relevant Director purchased Ordinary Shares, with the Company granting
a matching award of two Ordinary Shares for each share purchased. Provided that the relevant Director remained employed by the
Company and the Ordinary Shares purchased had not been sold, 50 per cent. of the matching award was to be released on the first
anniversary of the date of the award with the balance being released on the second anniversary. The agreements in respect of Frank
Condella and Ken Cunningham terminated in 2008 with the award of the second and final tranches of matching shares under the scheme.
The agreement in respect of Peter Grant terminated in 2009 with the award of the second and final tranche of matching shares under the 
scheme. No further releases are to be made under the Co-Investment agreements.

Performance conditions

Condition Description

LTIP 1 Comparative Total Shareholder Return performance of the Company. The Company’s
performance was below median over the performance period so these awards have lapsed.

LTIP 2 Share Price Targets more fully described earlier in the report on page 45.

LTIP 3 Share Price Targets more fully described earlier in the report on page 45.

Co-Investment agreements

Shares First Second
purchased release release

Share Share Share
Director No. Price Date No. Price Date No. Price Date

Peter Grant 1,000 £24.00 26 Jan 1,877* £1.625 12 Nov 1,877* £1.68 20 April
2008 2008 2009

* The releases that took place on 12 November 2008 and 20 April 2009 were subject to the adjustment factor of 53.2601 agreed with HMRC.

As at 31 December 2009, none of the Directors had any interests in shares of any other Group company. The market value of Ordinary
Shares at 31 December 2009 was £0.88. The market value of Ordinary Shares during 2009 ranged from the lowest closing mid-price of
£0.7575 to the highest closing mid-price of £1.855.

On behalf of the Board

Frank Condella
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
24 March 2010
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
in Relation to the Accounts

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom
law and those International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union.

The Directors are required to prepare, for each financial year, financial statements which present fairly the financial position of the 
Company and of the Group and the financial performance and cash flows of the Group for that period. In preparing those statements, the
Directors are required to:

■ select suitable accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8 “Accounting policies”, changes in accounting estimates and errors and then
apply them consistently;

■ present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information;

■ provide additional disclosures when compliance with specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to enable users to understand the
impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

■ prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Company and of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Acts
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 
are included in the Annual Report 2009, which is published by the Company in hard copy printed form and available to download on the
Group’s website on the Internet. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ remuneration
The Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 53 sets out the remuneration policies operated by the Company and disclosures on Directors’
remuneration and other disclosable information relating to Directors and officers and their interests.

Internal control
The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the assessment of risks and the internal control framework that SkyePharma
operates and has considered the effectiveness of the system of internal control in operation in the Group for the year covered by this
Report and up to the date of its approval by the Board of Directors.

The 2008 Combined Code
The Board considers that the Company applies the principles of the 2008 Combined Code on Corporate Governance of the Financial
Reporting Council, as described under “Corporate Governance” on pages 31 to 39 and has complied with all relevant principles and 
provisions of the Code except as specifically described in that report. As required by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority,
the Auditors have considered the Directors’ statement of compliance in relation to those points of the 2008 Combined Code which are
specified for their review.
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Auditors
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that:

■ So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s Auditors are unaware; and

■ The Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Company’s Auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s.418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as Auditors and a resolution to reappoint them will be proposed at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
In accordance with the FSA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules, the Directors listed on page 25 confirm, to the best of their knowledge,
that:

1. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole; and

2. The management report, which is incorporated into the Report of the Directors, includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole,
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group.

Annual Report
The Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2009, comprising the Report of the Directors, the Remuneration Report, the Financial 
Statements and additional information for investors, has been approved by the Board of Directors.

By Order of the Board

John Murphy
General Counsel and
Company Secretary
24 March 2010
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We have audited the financial statements of SkyePharma PLC for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the Consolidated
Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income / Expense, the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheet,
the Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements, and the related
notes 1 to 39. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
Auditor’s Report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 54, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the Audit of the Financial Statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment
of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the Parent Company’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

Opinion on Financial Statements
In our opinion:

■ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2009
and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

■ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

■ the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and
as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

■ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on Other Matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:
■ the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006;

■ the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements; and

■ the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on pages 31 - 39 with respect to internal control and risk
management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about share capital structures is consistent with the financial 
statements.

 Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of
SkyePharma PLC
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Matters on Which We Are Required to Report by Exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

■ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

■ the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with
the accounting records and returns; or

■ certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

■ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

■ a Corporate Governance Statement has not been prepared by the Company.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

■ the Directors’ statement, set out on page 19, in relation to going concern; and

■ the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on page 31 relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June
2008 Combined Code specified for our review.

David Hales 
(Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
Reading
24 March 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
Continuing operations Notes £m £m
Revenue 5 55.9 62.2
Cost of sales 6 (15.0) (19.6)
Gross profit 40.9 42.6
Selling, marketing and distribution expenses (1.9) (1.5)
Research and development expenses 7 (19.6) (25.1)
Corporate costs (2.9) (3.5)
Amortisation of intangible assets  (0.6) (0.7)
Share-based payments charge (0.8) (0.8)
Other expenses 11 — (0.1)
Pre-exceptional operating profit 9 15.1 10.9
Exceptional credits 8 9.8 —
Exceptional charges 8 (11.2) (28.5)
Operating profit/(loss) 13.7 (17.6)
Finance costs:

Interest 12 (13.3) (14.1)
Revaluation 12 (1.4) (3.0)

Finance income 12 0.3 0.9
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain on net debt 13 (0.2) 5.7
Loss before tax (0.9) (28.1)
Taxation 14 (0.5) (0.6)
Loss for continuing operations attributable to the parent (1.4) (28.7)
Basic and diluted earnings per share 15 (6.0)p (247.4)p

See Notes to the accounts.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income/(Expense)
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
£m £m

Loss for the year (1.4) (28.7)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, after tax:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 5.4 (20.7)
Available for sale financial assets — Impairment 0.3 (0.1)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans 0.2 (0.1)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, net of tax 5.9 (20.9)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year attributable to the owners of the parent, net of tax 4.5 (49.6)

See Notes to the accounts.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2009

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
Notes £m £m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 16 2.1 7.8
Intangible assets 17 7.0 10.8
Property, plant and equipment 18 29.8 26.3

38.9 44.9
Current assets
Inventories 21 1.3 1.5
Trade and other receivables 22 16.5 19.4
Cash and cash equivalents 24 27.0 35.7

44.8 56.6
Non current assets classified as held for sale 25 — 3.9
Total assets 83.7 105.4

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 (13.7) (26.0)
Borrowings 27 (13.4) (12.8)
Deferred income (1.0) (1.6)

(28.1) (40.4)
Non-current liabilities
Convertible bonds 27 (58.5) (62.7)
Other borrowings 27 (62.2) (76.0)
Deferred income (10.8) (12.4)
Provisions 28 (3.7) (3.7)

(135.2) (154.8)
Total liabilities (163.3) (195.2)
Net liabilities (79.6) (89.8)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital  31 98.5 96.7
Share premium   33 390.2 387.2
Translation reserve 33 (19.4) (24.8)
Fair value reserve 33 — (0.3)
Own share reserve 33 (0.2) (0.2)
Retained losses 33 (558.1) (557.8)
Other reserves 34 9.4 9.4
Total shareholders’ equity (79.6) (89.8)

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

K Cunningham P Grant
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer
 
See Notes to the accounts.
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Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2009

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
Notes £m £m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 17 0.1 —
Property, plant and equipment 18 0.1 0.1
Shares in and loans to Group undertakings  20 245.0 240.5

245.2 240.6
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 22 0.8 3.6
Cash and cash equivalents 24 16.4 22.4

17.2 26.0
Total assets 262.4 266.6

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 (61.4) (64.9)
Total liabilities (61.4) (64.9)
Net assets 201.0 201.7

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital  31 98.5 96.7
Share premium   33 390.2 387.2
Translation reserve 33 — 1.0
Fair value reserve 33 — (0.3)
Own share reserve 33 0.5 0.2
Retained losses 33 (297.6) (292.5)
Other reserves 34 9.4 9.4
Total shareholders’ equity 201.0 201.7

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

K Cunningham P Grant
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer
 
See Notes to the accounts.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Attributable to owners of the parent
Total

Share Share Translation Fair value Own share Retained Other shareholders’
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses reserves equity

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 1 January 2009 96.7 387.2 (24.8) (0.3) (0.2) (557.8) 9.4 (89.8)
Loss for the year — — — — — (1.4) — (1.4)
Other comprehensive
income — — 5.4 0.3 — 0.2 — 5.9
Total comprehensive
income/(expense) 
for the year — — 5.4 0.3 — (1.2) — 4.5
Issue of share capital
— conversions 1.8 3.0 — — — 0.1 — 4.9
Share-based payments
charge — — — — — 0.8 — 0.8
At 31 December 2009 98.5 390.2 (19.4) — (0.2) (558.1) 9.4 (79.6)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Attributable to owners of the parent
Total

Share Share Translation Fair value Own share Retained Other shareholders’
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses reserves equity

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 1 January 2008 82.7 382.8 (4.1) (0.2) — (529.8) 9.4 (59.2)
Loss for the year — — — — — (28.7) — (28.7)
Other comprehensive
expense — — (20.7) (0.1) — (0.1) — (20.9)
Total comprehensive
expense for the year — — (20.7) (0.1) — (28.8) — (49.6)
Issue of share capital 
— cash 14.0 4.4 — — — — — 18.4
Own shares acquired 
during the year — — — — (0.2) — — (0.2)
Share-based
payments charge — — — — — 0.8 — 0.8
At 31 December 2008 96.7 387.2 (24.8) (0.3) (0.2) (557.8) 9.4 (89.8)
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Attributable to owners of the parent
Total

Share Share Translation Fair value Own share Retained Other shareholders’
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses reserves equity

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 1 January 2009 96.7 387.2 1.0 (0.3) 0.2 (292.5) 9.4 201.7
Loss for the year — — — — — (5.8) — (5.8)
Other comprehensive
expense — — (1.0) — — — — (1.0)
Total comprehensive
expense for the year — — (1.0) — — (5.8) — (6.8)
Issue of share capital 
— conversions 1.8 3.0 — — — 0.1 — 4.9
Share-based
payment charge — — — — — 0.6 — 0.6
Charge for the year — — — — 0.3 — — 0.3
Impairment — — — 0.3 — — — 0.3
At 31 December 2009 98.5 390.2 — — 0.5 (297.6) 9.4 201.0

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Attributable to owners of the parent
Total

Share Share Translation Fair value Own share Retained Other shareholders’
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses reserves equity

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 1 January 2008 82.7 382.8 — (0.2) — (283.3) 9.4 191.4
Loss for the year — — — — — (9.7) — (9.7)
Other comprehensive
income/(expense) — — 1.0 (0.1) — — — 0.9
Total comprehensive
income/(expense) for the year — — 1.0 (0.1) — (9.7) — (8.8)
Issue of share capital 
— cash 14.0 4.4 — — — — — 18.4
Own shares acquired
during the year — — — — 0.2 — — 0.2
Share-based
payment charge — — — — — 0.5 — 0.5
At 31 December 2008 96.7 387.2 1.0 (0.3) 0.2 (292.5) 9.4 201.7
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
Notes £m £m

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated by operations (a) 17.3 5.1
Income tax paid (0.5) (0.6)
Net cash generated by operating activities 16.8 4.5

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (4.8) (4.2)
Purchases of intangible assets (0.4) (0.1)
Interest received 0.3 0.9
Net cash used in investing activities (4.9) (3.4)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of borrowings (7.0) (3.0)
Interest paid (12.6) (13.2)
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital  — 18.4
Bond modification cost — (4.3)
Net cash used in financing activities (19.6) (2.1)

Effect of exchange rate changes (0.8) 4.8
Net (decrease)/ increase in net cash and cash equivalents (8.5) 3.8

Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  35.5 31.7
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (8.5) 3.8
Net cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 27.0 35.5
Analysis of net cash:
Cash and cash equivalents 24 27.0 35.7
Bank overdraft 27 — (0.2)
Net cash and cash equivalents 27.0 35.5

See Notes to the accounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

(a) Cash flow from operating activities
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Loss for the year (1.4) (28.7)

Adjustments for:
Tax 0.5 0.6
Depreciation 2.9 4.7
Amortisation  0.6 0.7
Impairments 8.4 25.7
Finance costs 14.7 17.1
Finance income (0.3) (0.9)
Aborted transaction costs — 1.5
Share-based payments charge 0.8 0.8
Exchange losses on translation (0.4) (5.3)

Other non-cash income (2.7) (1.5)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 23.1 14.7

Changes in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 0.1 (0.1)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 1.6 (2.3)
Decrease in trade and other payables (6.5) (3.2)
Decrease in deferred income (1.0) (4.0)

Cash generated by operations 17.3 5.1
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Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
Notes £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash generated by/(used in) operations  (a) 0.1 (4.3)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets (0.1) —
Investments in subsidiaries — (4.0)
Interest received 0.3 0.7
Net cash generated by/(used in) investing activities 0.2 (3.3)

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (6.3) (6.5)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital — 18.4
Net cash (used in)/generated by financing activities (6.3) 11.9

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (6.0) 4.3

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 22.4 18.1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 16.4 22.4

(a) Cash flow from operating activities
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Loss for the year (5.8) (9.7)
Adjustments for:

Interest expense 6.3 6.5
Interest income (0.3) (0.7)
Share-based payments charge 0.6 0.5
Reversal of inter-company provision (6.2) —
Other non-cash charges 1.4 —

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (4.0) (3.4)

Changes in working capital
Decrease in trade and other receivables 2.8 1.5
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 1.3 (2.4)

Cash generated by/(used in) operations 0.1 (4.3)

See Notes to the accounts.
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Notes to the Accounts

1 General information
SkyePharma PLC (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) is a speciality pharmaceutical Group which uses its multiple drug 
delivery technologies to create enhanced versions of existing pharmaceutical products.

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom, with its registered office at 105 Piccadilly, London W1J 7NJ.

These accounts are presented in pounds sterling because that is the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. Foreign
operations are included in accordance with the policies set out in Note 2.

2 Accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) adopted by the European Union. All 
IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) that were effective at the time of preparing the accounts and adopted by the
European Commission for use inside the EU were applied by the Group.

These Group and the Company accounts have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and the interpretations issued by the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. 

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation to fair values of financial instruments at fair 
value through profit and loss and available for sale financial instruments. All values are rounded to the nearest £0.1 million.

Going concern
The Group’s business activities together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the Business 
Review on pages 4 to 11. The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position, and debt profile are described in the Finance Review on
pages  12 to 19. In addition, Note 29: Financial instruments to the accounts includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its
capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity
risk.

The Directors have made an assessment of the working capital requirements of the Group for the next twelve months, taking into account revenue
projections, operating costs, finance costs, debt repayment obligations, obligations in respect of the Flutiform™ supply chain and supporting the 
regulatory filings, proposed cost reduction actions and the risks inherent in such forecasts.

After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual
report and accounts.

Whilst not a significant uncertainty affecting going concern, management of the Flutiform™ supply chain involves the Group in a number of
commitments including the remaining capital expenditure for production tooling, obligations to prepare for commercial supply, working capital
requirements and certain minimum commitments to suppliers. However, these factors and the timing of approval and launch of Flutiform™ and
related net cash inflows are not critical to the Director’s current assessment of going concern.

Standards effective in the current period
In preparing the consolidated accounts for the year the Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations:

■ IFRS 2 (amended) — Share-based Payments — Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

■ IFRS 7 — Financial Instruments — Disclosures

■ IFRS 8 — Operating Segments

■ IAS 1 — Presentation of Financial Statements

■ IAS 23 — Borrowing Costs

■ IAS 32 — Financial Instruments presentation and IAS 1 — Puttable Financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation

■ IAS 39 — Financial instruments: recognition and measurement — Embedded derivatives

■ IFRIC 9 — Remeasurement of embedded derivatives and IAS 39 — Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement.

■ Improvements to IFRS (May 2008)
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2 Accounting policies continued
Adoption of these standards did not have any effect on the financial position of the Group, or result in changes in accounting policy or additional 
disclosure except as follows:

■ IFRS 7 — Financial Instruments: Disclosures

The amended standard requires additional disclosure in respect of fair value measurement and liquidity risk. As the Group has no assets carried at fair
value in the Balance Sheet, no further disclosure is included in these financial statements.

■ IFRS 8 — Operating Segments

IFRS 8 requires the disclosure of operating segments to be based on information used internally by management to assess the performance of, and
allocate resources to, the business. Previously, primary (business) and secondary (geographical) segments were identified using a risks and returns
approach.

The Board has determined that it has one operating segment; the development and manufacture of pharmaceutical products, consistent with 
the business segment previously identified under IAS 14 in the 2008 Annual Report. IFRS 8 disclosures are shown in Note 4: Segment Information,
including revised comparative information.

■ IAS 1 — Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 1 (revised) requires the presentation of a Statement of Changes in Equity (SOCIE) as a primary statement in the Group’s accounts. In addition, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income has been introduced, presented either within the consolidated income statement or as a separate primary
statement. It is presented as a separate primary statement in these financial statements.

Standards in issue but not yet adopted
The following standards and interpretations, relevant to the Group, have been issued at the date of these accounts, but are not yet effective:

■ IFRS 2 (amended) — Share-based payment: Group cash-settled share-based payment transactions

■ IFRS 3 (revised) — Business combinations and IAS 27 (amended) – Consolidated and separate financial statements

■ IAS 32 — Financial instruments: presentation — Classification of Rights Issues

■ IAS 39 — Financial instruments: recognition and measurement — Eligible hedged items

■ IFRIC 17 — Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

■ IFRIC 18 — Transfers of assets from customers

■ IFRIC 19 — Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

■ Improvements to IFRSs (April 2009)

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have a material impact on the 
accounts of the Group.

Company income statement
In accordance with the provisions of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate income statement and related notes have been presented 
for the Company.

(b) Consolidation
The underlying accounts comprise a consolidation of the accounts of the Company and all its subsidiaries. The accounts of the Group’s subsidiaries
are made up to 31 December.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Control is achieved where the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities and is achieved through direct or indirect ownership of voting rights,
currently exercisable or convertible voting rights, or by way of contractual agreement.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date on which
control ceases. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. The accounts of subsidiaries used for the preparation of the Group accounts
are prepared for the same reporting year as the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies.

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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2 Accounting policies continued
Inter-company eliminations
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised gains on
transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are eliminated 
in the same way as unrealised gains unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

(c) Foreign currency translation
Items included in the accounts of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated accounts are presented in pounds sterling, which is the Company’s and Group’s
functional presentation currency.

In preparing the individual accounts of the group companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency are translated 
into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when they relate to items recognised directly in equity (e.g. equities classified as available 
for sale) in which case the exchange component of that gain or loss will be recognised directly in equity. Non-monetary items measured at fair value 
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date of the initial transactions.

Group companies
For the purpose of preparing the consolidated accounts the results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency
different from the Group’s functional currency are translated into the Group’s functional currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities, are taken to shareholders’ equity. Where
subsidiaries are funded centrally, using long-term intercompany loans and settlement of these loans is neither planned nor likely to occur in the
forseeable future, they are treated as part of the net investment and exchange translation differences are taken to reserves

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate. On disposal of a foreign entity, accumulated exchange differences are recognised in the income statement in the same
period in which the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.

(d) Segment reporting
The Group has identified that it has one operating segment; the development and manufacture of pharmaceutical products based on information
used internally by management to assess the performance of, and allocate resources to the business.

(e) Revenue recognition
Revenue is stated net of sales taxes, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:

Licence signing and milestone fees
Licence signing and milestone fees represent amounts earned from licensing agreements, including up-front payments, milestone payments and
technology access fees. Revenues are recognised where they are non-refundable, where the Group’s obligations related to the revenues have
been discharged and their collection is reasonably assured. Refundable contract revenue is treated as deferred until such time that it is no longer
refundable. In general, up-front payments are deferred and recognised on a systematic basis over the period of development to regulatory filing.
Milestone payments related to scientific or technical achievements are recognised as income when the milestone is accomplished.

Contract research and development revenue
Contract research and development revenue represents amounts earned for services rendered under development contracts. Revenues are
recognised in the period in which they are earned.

Royalty income
Royalty income is recognised on an accruals basis and is normally derived from a percentage of licensee’s net product sales in accordance with the 
substance of the relevant agreement. Generally the Group receives sales information from the licensee on a quarterly basis. For any period for which
the information has not been received, the Group estimates sales and any adjustments arising from actual figures received are booked in the period 
in which they are received.
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2 Accounting policies continued
Manufacturing and distribution
Manufacturing and distribution revenues principally comprise income from sales of product manufactured, contract manufacturing fees invoiced
to third parties and other income derived from manufacturing and supply agreements. Revenues are recognised upon transfer to the customer of 
significant risks and rewards, usually upon despatch of goods shipped where the sales price is agreed and collectability is reasonably assured.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(f) Cost of sales
Cost of sales is charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. Cost of sales comprises the direct and indirect costs of
manufacturing, agents’ commissions and royalties payable.

(g) Selling, marketing and distribution
Selling, marketing and distribution expenses comprise the direct and indirect costs of business development, marketing and distribution.

(h) Research and development
Research and development expenditure is charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. Research and development 
expenses comprise the direct and indirect costs on projects, feasibility studies and technology development; costs of chemistry, manufacturing and
control development, clinical work, and the registration and maintenance of intellectual property.

(i) Corporate costs
Corporate costs comprise expenditure not directly related to research and development, manufacturing or business development.

(j) Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired 
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or when events and changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing. Each of those cash generating units is disclosed in Note 16: Goodwill.

Intellectual property
Intellectual property comprises acquired patents, trade marks, know-how and other similarly identified rights. These are recorded at their fair value 
at acquisition date and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic lives from the time they are available for use as
disclosed in Note 17: Intangible Assets.

Research and development
Development expenditure is capitalised when the criteria for recognising it as an asset are met which is when it is probable that the project will be 
a success, considering its commercial and technological feasibility, and costs can be measured reliably. Regulatory and other uncertainties generally
mean that such criteria are not met. Prior to product launch, capitalised development costs are tested annually for impairment. Once launched they
are amortised over their useful economic lives.

Computer software
Costs that are directly associated with the purchase and implementation of identifiable and unique software products by the Group are recognised 
as intangible assets. Expenditures that enhance and extend the benefits of computer software programmes beyond their original specifications
and lives are recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software. Direct costs include the software development
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Software costs are amortised over their useful economic lives, generally a period 
of three to five years.

(k) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at the cost of purchase or construction less provision for depreciation and impairment. The cost
of property, plant and equipment includes acquisition, labour and overhead costs arising directly from the construction or acquisition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance expenditures are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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2 Accounting policies continued
Depreciation is not provided on freehold land or projects under construction. On other property, plant and equipment depreciation is provided on
the difference between the cost of an item and its estimated residual value, in equal annual instalments over the estimated useful lives of the assets 
as follows:

Freehold buildings 2%–5%
Laboratory equipment and machines 10%–33%
Office and other equipment 10%–33%
Motor vehicles 20%
Short leasehold property period of the lease

Assets in the course of construction are depreciated when they are ready for operational use.

Residual values of assets and their useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if it is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in the income 
statement.

(l) Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Any impairment loss is charged to the income statement in 
the year concerned. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows (cash-generating units). 

The expected cash flows generated by the assets are discounted using asset specific discount rates which reflect the risks associated with the groups
of assets. These risks vary with the nature and the location of the cash-generating units.

(m) Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets according to the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the
classification of financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates the designation at every reporting date. The Group has the following categories
of financial assets:

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are not acquired to generate profit from short-term fluctuations in price. They are included
in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the asset within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Available-for-sale investments are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value of consideration given, plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
available-for-sale investments comprising marketable equity securities that are traded in active markets are carried at their fair value as of each 
balance sheet date.

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale investments are
recognised in equity. When available-for-sale investments are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments in equity are recycled into the
income statement within corporate costs as gains and losses from investment securities.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. If
any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and 
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised is removed from equity and recognised in the income 
statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed.

(n) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in-first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and an appropriate proportion of related production
overheads, based on the normal level of production capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate.
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2 Accounting policies continued
(o) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when
the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets. Trade receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.

(p) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purposes of the cash flow statement,
net cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, short-term deposits, marketable securities and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts
are included within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(q) Assets held for sale 
Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and expected to be completed within one year
from classification and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition.

If these conditions are not met the assets will be included, or transferred if previously classed as held for sale, in the balance  sheet line to which they
relate.

(r) Borrowings
Obligations for loans and borrowings are recognised when the Group becomes party to the related contracts and are measured initially at fair value
less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or other cancellation of liabilities are recognised 
respectively in finance revenue and finance cost.

(s) Convertible bonds
On issue the debt and equity components of a convertible bond are separated and recorded at fair value net of issue costs. The fair value of the
liability portion is determined by applying a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond to the forecast cash flows under the
convertible bond agreement. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the
bonds. The remainder of the proceeds of the bond is allocated to the conversion option which is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity.
The value of the conversion option is not changed in subsequent periods. Where the bonds include early repayment options for the bond holders 
and early repayment will be at par the embedded option is considered as clearly and closely related and therefore not separated from the host
contract.

On conversion of the bonds the amortised cost of the bond in liabilities will be de-recognised, and an equivalent amount recognised in shareholders’ 
 equity. Also recorded is a transfer between share  premium and retained  earnings to remove the value of the conversion option initially recorded in
shareholders’ equity.

(t) Paul Capital funding liabilities 
The liability was initially recorded at fair value, calculated by discounting the expected cash flows based on management’s estimation of a fair market
rate at inception. Subsequently the liability is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Any change in the expected cash
flows is recognised as an adjustment to the carrying value with the corresponding gain or loss recorded in Finance costs: revaluation in the income
statement.

(u) CRC liabilities 
The liability was initially recorded at fair value. Subsequently the liability is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Any
change in the expected cash flows is recognised as an adjustment to the carrying value with the corresponding gain or loss recorded in Finance
costs: revaluation in the income statement.

(v) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset or liability is generally de recognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in profit or loss.

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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2 Accounting policies continued
(w) Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date: whether 
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependant on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Lease agreements which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are classified as finance leases. Finance 
leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property, plant and equipment or the present value
of minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate of interest
on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. These
payments are split between capital and interest elements using the annuity method. The interest element of the lease rental is included in the 
income statement. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated on a basis consistent with similar owned assets or the lease term if shorter.

All other leases are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, net of lease incentives or premiums received, are charged
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(x) Employee benefits
Pension obligations
Switzerland
The Group operates a pension scheme in respect of its employees in Switzerland. This scheme is a defined contribution plan into which the 
employer and employee contribute on a monthly basis, and which is designed to build a pension fund which will be used to determine a pension
on retirement based on the conversion rate established at the time of joining the plan. The Group and employee also make additional contributions
in respect of death or disability benefits.

The pension scheme is regulated to require that the funds achieve a minimum investment return, established by the government on a yearly basis.
The return is set each year by the Swiss government based on market conditions each year and taking into account the relatively conservative
investment criteria which must be followed by the pension investment company. The primary obligation to ensure that each pension fund achieves
at least the minimum return lies with the pension investment company; a company controlled by its member-employers and member-employees,
which pools the funds across many employers and is able to smooth out any under-performance over a number of years. If the investment target
is not met, the effect is usually assessed over a number of years. If the deficit persists over this period or is substantial, it will first be met from past 
reserves (from years when the investment return has exceeded the minimum required). If a deficit remains, or is significant, members may agree
(or be required by the regulator) to make a higher rate of future contribution in order to restore the investment funds to a fully funded level over a
number of years. These additional contributions would be shared equally between the employer and the employee.

The employer and employee members are therefore exposed to the following risks;

(i) the risk that the minimum investment return is not met, and is not made up from past excess returns or future returns; and
(ii) the risks that the assets held by the pension fund are not sufficient to cover payments to pensioners, disability benefit and death in service

benefit. 

As some of these risks match the criteria for accounting for a scheme as a defined benefit scheme, the Swiss pension plan is accounted for in 
accordance with IAS 19.

The liability included in the balance sheet in respect of the Swiss pension plan is therefore the present value of the defined benefit obligations 
less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses. Defined benefit obligations for the schemes 
are calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligations is 
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the
currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability. Service costs
are included in staff costs and charged to the income statement over the remaining average expected service lives of employees. They are set at a
level designed to give a charge through the income statement which is a level percentage of salaries.

The Group recognises actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions directly in equity, in
the period in which they have occurred, in accordance with the alternative treatment allowed by the amendment to IAS 19: Employee benefits —
Actuarial gains and losses, group plans and disclosures.

UK
The Group operates various defined contribution plans for its employees in the UK. The Group’s contributions to this plan are charged to the income 
statement in the period to which they relate, and the assets are held in separate trustee administered funds. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
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2 Accounting policies continued
France
The Group contributes to the State run defined benefit schemes relevant to its employees in France. The liability recognised in the balance sheet in 
respect of the defined benefit retirement indemnities is the present value of the defined benefit obligations at the balance sheet date. The obligation
is restricted solely to a lump sum payment payable on retirement in employment. The Group has no residual liability or transfer payment to make
in the event that an employee leaves employment prior to retirement. The scheme is unfunded and there are no plan assets. Defined benefit
obligations for the schemes are calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the
defined benefit obligations is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid. Service costs are included in staff costs and are charged to the income
statement over the remaining average expected service lives of employees.

Share-based compensation
Incentives in the form of shares are provided to employees under share option, share purchase and long-term incentive plans. In accordance with 
IFRS 2 Share-based Payments, charges for these incentives are expensed through the income statement on a straight-line basis over their vesting 
period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options or awards at the date they were granted excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability
and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in estimates about the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable or are released.

The Group provides finance to an employee share ownership trust to purchase company shares on the open market to meet the Group’s obligation
to provide shares when employees exercise their options or awards. The costs of running the employee share ownership trust are charged to the 
income statement as they accrue. Shares held by the employee share ownership trust are deducted from shareholders’ equity.

At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting 
period.

(y) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, if it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Restructuring charges are provided in the period in
which management has committed to a plan and it is probable that an obligation has been incurred that can be reliably estimated. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.

(z) Taxation
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated accounts. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

(aa) Deferred consideration
Provisions for deferred consideration comprise the fair value of contingent consideration arising from acquisitions and are included in the cost of 
business combinations at the acquisition date if the adjustment is probable and can be reliably measured. Provisions are reviewed annually by the
Directors, and changes to the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration are recorded as an adjustment to goodwill or the underlying 
asset value.

(ab) Own shares
Own equity instruments which are re-acquired are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the income 
statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the
consideration is recognised in other reserves.

(ac) Exceptional items
Exceptional items, which are presented on the face of the income statement, are those material items of income and expense which, because of 
the nature and expected infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit separate presentation to allow shareholders to understand better the
elements of financial performance in the year, so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods and the assessment of trends in financial performance.

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of the consolidated accounts requires the Group to make estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The Group bases its estimates and judgements on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that it considers to be reasonable. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions or conditions.

Judgements
Revenue recognition
The Group’s revenue comprises revenues from signing and milestone payments from licensing, research and development, royalties and
manufacturing and distribution. The Group enters a wide variety of collaborative arrangements with its partners from which it may earn all, or some
of, these revenue streams. The application of the Group’s revenue recognition policy to the complex collaboration agreements requires significant 
estimates and judgement. In particular, in arrangements with multiple deliverables, there may be significant judgement in separating the different
revenue generating activities.

Deferred Consideration
Provisions for deferred consideration payable by the Group comprise the fair value of contingent consideration arising from acquisitions. The
eventual outcome is subject to the Group’s future performance and certain contractual terms. Provisions are reviewed annually by the Directors, who
make significant judgments as to the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration. Based on these judgments, changes to the estimated fair 
value of the consideration are recorded. No deferred consideration has been recorded in the accounts. Further details of contingent consideration
are set out in Note 31: Share capital.

Convertible Bonds
During 2008 the terms of the Group’s convertible bonds were renegotiated as described in Note 27: Borrowings. This was accounted for as a
modification to the existing liability based on the requirements in IAS 39. As the only changes were to the first put date and the conversion price, the
Directors judged the changes to be a modification rather than an extinguishment.

Estimates
Paul Capital finance
The proceeds received from Paul Capital are treated as financial liabilities under IAS 39. The fixed amortisable Note is recorded at the net present 
value of expected amortisation payments to be paid to Paul Capital. This amount is net of payments forecast to be made to Paul Capital by Pacira 
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (formerly SkyePharma Inc.) which reduce the amounts owing to Paul Capital by the Group. In order to be able to calculate
the funding liabilities, significant estimation of certain of the Group’s future cash flows and expected payments by Pacira Pharmaceuticals Inc. is
required. In addition, pre-payments are due in certain circumstances, including sharing the first U.S.$10 million of receipts of milestones in respect of 
Flutiform™. Cash flows from license agreements are periodically reassessed to determine the estimated funding liabilities. Further details are set out 
in Note 12: Finance costs and income  and Note 27: Borrowings.

CRC finance
The loan received from CRC is treated as a financial liability under IAS 39. The liability is recorded at the net present value of expected payments
to be made to CRC. Pre-payments are due in certain circumstances, including sharing the first U.S.$10 million of receipts of milestones in respect
of Flutiform™. Therefore in order to be able to calculate the funding liabilities, significant estimation of certain of the Group’s future cash flows is
required. Cash flows from license agreements are periodically reassessed to determine the estimated funding liabilities. Further details are set out in 
Note 12: Finance costs and income  and Note 27: Borrowings.

Impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with its accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. The estimates used in
goodwill impairment testing as at 31 December 2009 and 2008 are presented in Note 16: Goodwill.

Impairment of other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
The Group tests annually whether other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment have suffered any impairment. These calculations 
require the use of estimates.

Contingent liabilities
Provisions for contingent liabilities are dependent upon estimates and assessments of whether the criteria for recognition have been met, including 
estimates by the Directors as to the probable outcome and the amount of the potential cost of resolution. Any estimate for such an accrual is
developed in consultation with external legal advisers advising the Group on such matters and is based upon an analysis of potential outcomes.
Further details are set out in Note 36: Contingencies.
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3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued
Pensions
The Group recognises actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions directly in equity, in
the period in which they have occurred, in accordance with the alternative treatment allowed by the amendment to IAS 19: Employee benefits
— Actuarial gains and losses, group plans and disclosures. The costs are assessed in accordance with advice received from independent actuaries.
These assumptions include inflation rate, rate of increase in salaries, discount rate and expected return on plan assets and are disclosed in Note 30: 
Retirement benefit obligations. The selection of different assumptions could affect the results of the Group.

Share-based compensation
Incentives in the form of shares are provided to employees under share option, share purchase and long term incentive plans. The fair value of the 
employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options and rewards is recognised as an expense. The expense is based upon a number 
of assumptions disclosed in Note 32: Share-based payments. The selection of different assumptions could affect the results of the Group.

Amortisation lives
Other intangible assets are recorded at their fair value at acquisition date and are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful 
economic lives from the time they are available for use. Any change in the estimated useful economic lives could affect the future results of
the Group.

Taxation
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. The Group has open tax assessments and queries 
with a number of revenue authorities and, on the basis of external professional advice, continues to believe that it has made adequate provision
for any liabilities that may arise from these open assessments. The ultimate liability for such matters may vary from the amounts provided, and is
dependent upon negotiations with the relevant tax authorities.

4 Segment information
For management purposes, the Group is treated as one reportable operating segment — the development and manufacture of pharmaceutical 
products.

Revenue from external customers
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
UK  7.5 9.0
Rest of Europe 27.5 27.1
North America  18.3 20.4
Rest of World 2.6 5.7
Total revenue 55.9 62.2

Revenue information is based on the location of the customer.

Information about major customers
Revenue earned from the Group’s major customers is as follows — Customer 1 — £11.2 million (2008: £12.9 million), Customer 2 — £7.1 million
(2008: £6.9 million).

Non-current assets by location
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
UK  4.8 0.1
Rest of Europe 34.1 44.8
Total 38.9 44.9

Non-current assets consist of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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5 Revenue by income stream
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Revenue earned is analysed as follows:
Signing and milestone payments  4.0 12.4
Contract research and development revenue 9.3 8.0
Royalties 28.9 22.4
Manufacturing and distribution 13.7 19.4
Total revenue 55.9 62.2

6 Cost of sales
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Manufacturing and distribution 14.2 19.0
Other cost of sales 0.8 0.6
Total cost of sales 15.0 19.6

7 Research and development
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Clinical trials, supplies and other external costs directly recharged to development partners 3.1 3.3
Other external clinical trial and supply costs 0.7 7.0
Other research and development costs 15.8 14.8
Total research and development 19.6 25.1
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8 Exceptional items
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

Exceptional credits Notes £m £m
Foradil® Certihaler® contract termination (a) 5.1 —
Exceptional accrual release (b) 4.7 —
Total exceptional credits 9.8 —

Exceptional charges
Foradil® Certihaler® asset write down (a) — 5.9
Restructuring charges (c) 2.8 0.8
Goodwill impairment (d) 5.7 19.5
Intellectual property impairment (e) 2.7 —
Aborted transaction costs — 1.5
Impairment on assets held for sale — 0.8
Total exceptional charges 11.2 28.5

(a) The exceptional income of £5.1 million on the termination of the Foradil® Certihaler® contracts consists of an amount received from 
Novartis, net of an amount payable to a subcontractor and costs related to the termination. The amounts were paid in July 2009. In the year
ended 31 December 2008 a non-cash exceptional charge of £5.9 million arose, relating to the impairment of assets related to the Foradil®
Certihaler®.

(b) The exceptional credit of £4.7 million relates to the release of accruals no longer required at 31 December 2009. They are mainly related to the 
final settlement of amounts due in respect of clinical trial work performed for Flutiform™.

(c) The exceptional charge of £2.8 million for 2009 primarily consists of employee termination costs, re-location costs and professional fees
related to the restructuring of the manufacturing facility in Lyon, France and the research and development facility in Muttenz, Switzerland.

(d) At 31 December 2009 the Group incurred a non-cash impairment charge of £5.7 million (2008: £19.5 million), on the IDD® goodwill. The
charge has arisen primarily due to a re-estimation of the future cash flows from and anticipated end of life of Triglide® based on the impact
of generic competition.

(e) At 31 December 2009 the Group incurred a non-cash impairment charge of £2.7 million on a licence relating to Flutiform™ in North America. 
The Group believes the value of this license is unlikely to be recovered before patent expiry and has therefore been fully written off.

9 Pre-exceptional operating profit
Pre-exceptional operating profit for the year has been arrived at after crediting/(charging):
 Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Net foreign exchange losses (0.2) (1.9)
Depreciation (2.9) (4.7)
Amortisation  (0.6) (0.7)
Cost of inventories (1.1) (2.1)
Rental income  0.3 0.3
 Staff costs (19.6) (20.1)

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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9 Pre-exceptional operating profit continued
Auditors’ remuneration
It is the Group’s policy to employ the auditors on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where their expertise and experience with 
the Group are important, principally tax advice and as reporting accountants on significant transactions, or where they are awarded assignments on 
a competitive basis. During the year, the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group’s Auditors at costs
detailed below:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
£m £m

Audit services
Fees payable for the audit of the Company and consolidated accounts 0.2 0.3
Fees payable for the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 0.1 0.3

Non-audit services 
 Tax advisory services 0.1 0.4

Corporate finance services — 0.4
Total fees payable 0.4 1.4

Included in the analysis of audit fees above are fees of £25,000 which were paid in respect of the Parent Company (2008: £50,000). 

10 Staff costs
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Wages and salaries 13.7 14.7
Equity-settled share-based payments 0.8 0.8
Social security costs 2.1 2.2
Pensions

Defined benefit plans  1.1 0.5
Defined contribution plans  0.6 0.5

Other benefits 1.3 1.4
Total staff costs 19.6 20.1

The average number of people, including Executive Directors, employed by the Group during the period was 121 (2008: 144) in research  and 
development, 101 (2008: 132) in manufacturing and 13 (2008: 14) in administration. The average number employed by the Company was 13 persons
(2008: 14 persons).

The Group’s key management personnel for disclosure purposes comprises only Executive Directors. Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration for the
year is shown in the audited part of the Remuneration Report.

11 Other expenses
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss — 0.1
Total other expenses — 0.1
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12 Finance costs and income
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Finance cost — interest:
Interest:

Bank borrowings 0.4 0.4
Paul Capital finance 3.0 2.7
CRC finance 3.7 4.5
Convertible bonds 6.2 6.5

Total finance cost — interest 13.3 14.1

Finance cost — revaluation
Cost of revaluation of liabilities due to Paul Capital and CRC 1.4 3.0
Total finance cost — revaluation 1.4 3.0

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
£m £m

Finance income:
Interest income 0.3 0.9
Total finance income 0.3 0.9

13 Foreign exchange (loss)/gain on net debt
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain on net debt:

Paul Capital finance 0.2 1.6
CRC finance 0.2 3.7
Foreign denominated cash balances (0.6) 0.4

Total foreign exchange (loss)/gain on net debt (0.2) 5.7

The foreign exchange (loss)/gain on net debt arises from translating the closing balance of net debt at the exchange rate as at the balance 
sheet date.

14 Taxation
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Current tax 0.5 0.6
Total current tax 0.5 0.6

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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14 Taxation continued
The tax on the Group’s losses before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The
differences are explained below:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
£m £m

Loss before tax (0.9) (28.1)

Tax credit at the UK corporation tax rate of 28.0% (2008: 28.5%) 0.2 8.0
Effects of:
Adjustments in respect of foreign tax rates 0.6 (0.9)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  3.8 (3.0)
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised (6.2) (4.3)
Tax losses utilised 1.6 0.2
Withholding taxes (0.5) (0.6)
Effective tax (0.5) (0.6)

As at 31 December 2009, the Group has estimated Corporate/Federal tax losses of approximately £265.6 million (2008: £247.0 million) and tax credits 
and temporary differences of £33.8 million (2008: £37.3 million). The Group has estimated Cantonal/State losses of approximately £62.5 million
(2008: £94.0 million). 

The expiry profile of the tax losses of the Group is estimated as follows:
 Indefinite

Expiry Expiry Expiry Expiry Expiry Expiry carry
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter forward Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Tax losses:
Corporate/Federal 10.0 4.4 38.2 39.6 36.4 86.4 50.6 265.6
Cantonal/State 30.3 2.4 6.6 9.6 7.2 6.4 0.0 62.5

The majority of the tax losses relate to Switzerland and these losses expire on 1 January in each of the years set out above. Overall the Group tax
losses are specific to various companies and businesses, and there can be no assurance that they can be utilised against profits which arise in the 
future. As a result, no deferred tax asset has been recognised given the uncertainty of future recoverability.

15 Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated based on the following information:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
£m £m

Attributable loss before exceptional items 0.0 (0.2)
Exceptional items (1.4) (28.5)
Basic and diluted attributable loss (1.4) (28.7)

Number Number
m m

Basic and diluted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue  23.4 11.6

Loss per Ordinary Share before exceptional items 0.0 (1.7)p
Exceptional items (6.0)p (245.7)p
Basic and diluted loss per Ordinary Share (6.0)p (247.4)p

There is no difference between basic and diluted loss per share since in a loss making year all potential shares from convertible bonds, stock options,
warrants and contingent issuance of shares are anti-dilutive.
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16 Goodwill
Total

Group £m
Cost
At 1 January 2008 33.7
At 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 33.7

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2008 6.4
Impairment 19.5
At 31 December 2008 25.9
Impairment 5.7
At 31 December 2009 31.6
Net book value
At 31 December 2008 7.8
At 31 December 2009 2.1

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. Value-in -
use calculations are generally utilised to calculate the recoverable amount. Key assumptions for the value in use calculations are as follows:

■ Launch dates of products employing these technologies – Launch dates reflect management’s most recent information on the expected date of
launch of products.

■ Sales projections – These are based on management’s projections, using partner information where available.

■ Discount rates – The discount rate is calculated using the Capital Asset Pricing Model, giving a rate of 15 per cent. This rate is adjusted to reflect the
specific risk associated with the related product. Approved products’ discount rates may be reduced below 15 per cent.

■ Cash Flow projections – Cash flow projections are usually for ten years (or to the expiry of the patent if shorter) based on expected product lives. A
terminal value is applied where appropriate.

■ Products under development – No value is attributed to products under development until revenues can be forecast with reasonable certainty.

Goodwill was tested for impairment at both 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008.

Goodwill at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 relates to the Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) comprising products and potential products 
acquired with the acquisition of RTP Canada in 2001/2002 and relates to the Insoluble Drug Delivery (“IDD®”) technology. The IDD® CGU carrying
amount (net book value) consists of:
 As at As at

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

Goodwill £m £m
Beginning of the year 7.8 27.3
Impairment (5.7) (19.5)
End of the year   2.1 7.8
Property, plant & equipment 1.5 2.0
Total IDD CGU 3.6 9.8

The recoverable amount for the IDD® CGU has been determined using a value-in-use calculation using the most recent business plans approved by
management which cover a period of 10 years. The pre-tax discount rate used is 12 per cent. (2008: 12 per cent.) for approved products and 15 per cent.
(2008: 15 per cent.) for pipeline products, which is the Group’s average pre-tax discount rate derived from a capital asset pricing model adjusted to reflect
specific risk. Cash flows beyond this period are extrapolated using trends and other data. Based on these assumptions, the recoverable amount of the
IDD® CGU has been calculated as £3.6 million (2008: £9.8 million).

The impairment charge of £5.7 million (2008: £19.5 million) has arisen due to a re-estimation of future cash flows and the anticipated end of life of 
Triglide® based on the impact of generic competition. 

The 2009 and 2008 impairment charges were included within exceptional items in the income statement due to the magnitude of the impairment, 
as disclosed in Note 8: Exceptional items.

Unless products under development using the IDD® technology reach a stage where revenues can be forecast with reasonable certainty this
goodwill will continue to be impaired to reflect the finite life and prospects for Triglide®.

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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16 Goodwill continued
Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Management believes that reasonably possible changes to key assumptions would cause the recoverable value of the goodwill to be reduced
further. The forecast sales are the key assumption to determine the value of the IDD® CGU. For example, if sales forecasts were reduced due to
further erosion of sales by competition in the market by 50 per cent. the recoverable amount would reduce to £1.6 million, resulting in a further
impairment charge of £2.0 million.

17 Intangible assets
Intellectual Software Development

property costs costs Total
Group £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2008 29.0 0.6 0.3 29.9
Exchange 14.0 0.2 0.2 14.4
Additions 0.1 — — 0.1
Disposals  — (0.1) — (0.1)
Transfer — 0.1 — 0.1
Write-offs — (0.1) — (0.1)
At 31 December 2008 43.1 0.7 0.5 44.3
Exchange (3.5) — (0.1) (3.6)
Additions — 0.4 — 0.4
Disposals  — (0.1) — (0.1)
Transfer (0.5) — 0.1 (0.4)
Impairment (2.7) — — (2.7)
At 31 December 2009 36.4 1.0 0.5 37.9
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2008 20.4 0.5 0.3 21.2
Exchange 10.5 0.2 0.2 10.9
Amortisation charge   0.6 0.1 — 0.7
Disposals  — (0.1) — (0.1)
Impairment 0.9 — — 0.9
Write-offs — (0.1) — (0.1)
At 31 December 2008 32.4 0.6 0.5 33.5
Exchange (2.6) (0.1) (0.1) (2.8)
Amortisation charge   0.5 0.1 — 0.6
Transfers (0.5) — 0.1 (0.4)
At 31 December 2009 29.8 0.6 0.5 30.9
Net book value
At 31 December 2008 10.7 0.1 — 10.8
At 31 December 2009 6.6 0.4 — 7.0

There are no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.

Included within intellectual property is £1.8 million (2008: £4.8 million) of assets which are not used in launched products. These assets have not
been amortised but have been tested for impairment using the method set out for goodwill in Note 16: Goodwill.

One of the licences, with a value of £2.7 million (2008: £3.0 million) relates to Flutiform™ in North America. The Group believes the value of this
license is unlikely to be recovered before patent expiry and has therefore been fully written off.

£4.3 million (2008: £5.2 million) of the intangible assets relate to Solaraze®. These assets are amortised over a 20 year period to 2020, based on the
expected useful life of the product.
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17 Intangible assets continued
Computer

software
Company £m
Cost
At 1 January 2009 —
Additions 0.1
At 31 December 2009 0.1
Net book value
At 31 December 2008 —
At 31 December 2009 0.1

18 Property, plant and equipment
Laboratory Assets Office and

Land and equipment under other Motor
buildings and machines construction equipment vehicles Total

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2008 29.5 35.7 1.1 1.5 0.2 68.0
Exchange 11.4 15.3 0.1 0.6 0.1 27.5
Additions 0.4 3.5 0.6 0.2 0.1 4.8
Transfers 0.1 1.0 (1.1) — — —
Transfer to assets held for sale — (4.7) — — — (4.7)
Disposals   (0.1) (0.2) (0.4) (0.1) (0.1) (0.9)
At 31 December 2008 41.3 50.6 0.3 2.2 0.3 94.7
Exchange (3.2) (3.9) — (0.2) 0.1 (7.2)
Additions 0.2 4.7 0.2 0.1 — 5.2
Transfers — — (0.2) (0.1) — (0.3)
Transfer from assets held for sale — 4.9 — — — 4.9
Disposals   — (0.3) (0.1) — (0.1) (0.5)
At 31 December 2009 38.3 56.0 0.2 2.0 0.3 96.8
Depreciation
At 1 January 2008 14.1 26.3 — 1.4 0.1 41.9
Exchange 5.5 12.0 — 0.5 0.1 18.1
Charged in the year  1.5 2.9 0.1 0.1 0.1 4.7
Impairment 0.4 4.1 — — — 4.5
Transfer to assets held for sale — (0.3) (0.3)
Disposals  (0.1) (0.2) — (0.1) (0.1) (0.5)
At 31 December 2008 21.4 44.8 0.1 1.9 0.2 68.4
Exchange (1.4) (3.4) — (0.1) — (4.9)
Charged in the year  1.5 1.2 — 0.1 0.1 2.9
Write-off — — (0.1) — — (0.1)
Transfer from assets held for sale — 1.2 — — — 1.2
Disposals  — (0.3) — (0.1) (0.1) (0.5)
At 31 December 2009 21.5 43.5 — 1.8 0.2 67.0
Net book value
At 31 December 2008 19.9 5.8 0.2 0.3 0.1 26.3
At 31 December 2009 16.8 12.5 0.2 0.2 0.1 29.8

Included in land and buildings is an amount of £6.6 million (2008: £7.2 million) in respect of land which is not depreciated.

At 31 December 2009, the carrying amount of the Group’s motor vehicles includes an amount of £0.1 million (2008: £0.2 million) in respect of assets 
held under finance leases and hire purchase arrangements.

At 31 December 2009, the net book value of the tangible assets pledged as collateral in the framework of various borrowing agreements (disclosed 
in Note 27: Borrowings) was £10.7 million (2008: £12.3 million). There were no material tangible assets temporarily idle as at the balance sheet date.

Included in property, plant & equipment are assets related to Foradil® Certihaler® with a gross value of £16.0 million (2008: £16.0 million), which
were fully impaired during 2008.

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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18 Property, plant and equipment
Office and

Land and other
buildings equipment Total

Company £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January and 31 December 2009 and 2008 0.1 0.2 0.3
Depreciation  
At 1 January and 31 December 2009 and 2008 — 0.2 0.2
Net book value
At 31 December 2009 and 2008 0.1 — 0.1

19 Available-for-sale financial assets
Total

Group and Company £m
At 1 January 2008 0.1
Impairments (0.1)
At 31 December 2009 and 2008 —

Group and Company
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise the following unlisted securities:

Micap plc
Micap is a United Kingdom science-based technology company traded on the Alternative Investment Market. The investment in Micap is recorded
at Nil at  31 December 2009 (2008: Nil) as the company is in administration. During 2009 the investment was deemed to be fully impaired and the
loss previously directly recorded in equity was transferred to corporate costs in the income statement.

Vital Living Inc
Vital Living is a United States nutriceuticals company traded on the OTC Bulletin Board in which the total SkyePharma holding was 29,493,599
common shares and warrants. The warrants, which expired in 2008, were previously exercisable for 4 million common shares at an exercise price of
U.S.$0.25 per share. The investment in Vital Living is recorded at Nil at 31 December 2009 and 2008 as the investment is deemed illiquid.

Cade Struktur Corp
Cade Struktur is a Canadian company and was formerly a drug delivery company engaged in research and development and worldwide
commercialisation of pharmaceutical formulations. The current business is the development, financing and completion of industrial and
infrastructure projects in Europe. The shares were originally acquired consequent upon the acquisition of the assets of Hyal Pharmaceutical Corp.
SkyePharma has not attributed a fair value to these shares and they have been recorded at Nil (2008: Nil).

20 Shares in and loans to Group undertakings
Shares in Loans to

Group Group
undertakings undertakings Total

Company £m £m £m
At 1 January 2008 132.1 103.2 235.3
Additions — 4.3 4.3
Exchange — 0.8 0.8
Payments — (0.3) (0.3)
Share-based payment charge related to subsidiaries 0.4 — 0.4
At 31 December 2008 132.5 108.0 240.5
Additions — 0.5 0.5
Exchange — (0.3) (0.3)
Impairment (2.2) — (2.2)
Reversal of impairment — 6.3 6.3
Share-based payment charge related to subsidiaries 0.2 — 0.2
At 31 December 2009 130.5 114.5 245.0

Principal subsidiaries are detailed in Note 38: Principal subsidiaries.
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21 Inventories
As at As at

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

Group £m £m
Raw materials and consumables 0.9 1.1
Work in progress 0.2 0.3
Finished goods 0.4 0.3

1.5 1.7
Less inventory provisions (0.2) (0.2)
Total inventory 1.3 1.5

22 Trade and other receivables
Group Group Company Company

As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2009 2008 2009 2008
£m £m £m £m

Trade receivables 7.0 9.2 — —
Less provision for impairment — (0.1) — —
Net trade receivables   7.0 9.1 — —
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings — — 0.4 2.8
Other receivables 1.5 2.7 0.1 0.5
Prepayments and accrued income 8.0 7.6 0.3 0.3
Total trade and other receivables 16.5 19.4 0.8 3.6

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on up to 30 day terms.

As at 31 December 2009, trade receivables at invoice value of Nil (2008: £0.1 million) were fully provided for.

Movements in the provision against receivables were as follows:
Group Group

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
 £m £m
Balance at beginning of period  0.1 0.2
Unused amounts reversed (0.1) —
Utilised — (0.2)
Charge for the year  — 0.1
Balance at end of period — 0.1

As at 31 December 2009, the aged analysis of trade receivables was as follows:

Neither
past

due nor Past due but not impaired
Total impaired <30 days 30–60 days 60–90 days 90–120 days >120 days

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
2009  7.0 3.1 2.8 0.8 — — 0.3
2008  9.1 2.2 5.0 0.8 0.2 — 0.9

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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23 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Total

Group and Company £m
At 1 January 2008 0.1
Revaluation to fair value (0.1)
At 31 December 2008 and 2009 —

There were no outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts at 31 December 2009 or 31 December 2008.

24 Cash and cash equivalents
Group Group Company Company

As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2009 2008 2009 2008
£m £m £m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 27.0 30.7 16.4 17.4
Short-term deposits — 5.0 — 5.0
Total cash and cash equivalents 27.0 35.7 16.4 22.4

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and three months depending on the cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rate. The carrying
amount of these assets approximates to their fair value as at the Balance Sheet date.

25 Non-current assets classified as held for sale
As at 31 December 2008 the Group had capitalised assets held at their net realisable value of £3.9 million related to the Flutiform™ supply chain in
assets held for sale.

As discussions with one party have ceased, and discussions with a number of other parties remain at a preliminary stage, these assets are recorded 
within property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2009.

26 Trade and other payables
Group Group Company Company

As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2009 2008 2009 2008
£m £m £m £m

Trade payables 3.7 5.9 0.2 0.2
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings — — 59.1 62.6
Withholding and company taxes 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5
Other taxation and social security costs 1.4 2.0 0.1 0.1
Accruals 8.1 17.6 1.5 1.5
Total trade and other payables 13.7 26.0 61.4 64.9

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled in accordance with the terms and conditions agreed with suppliers.
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27 Borrowings
As at As at

Interest 31 December 31 December
rate Currency of 2009 2008

Group % denomination £m £m
Current
Bank overdraft 6.5 Swiss Franc — 0.2
Bank borrowings 6.5 Swiss Franc 1.2 1.2
Property mortgage 3.9 Swiss Franc 0.4 0.4
Paul Capital finance 11.2  U.S. Dollar 6.3 7.4
CRC finance EURIBOR + 5.85% Euro 2.7 1.8
CRC finance LIBOR + 5.85% U.S. Dollar 2.8 1.7
Finance lease liabilities 5.5 Swiss Franc — 0.1
Total current borrowings 13.4 12.8
Non-current
Convertible 6% bonds due May 2024 9.6 Sterling 46.2 50.5
Convertible 8% bonds due June 2025 14.2 Sterling 12.3 12.2
Convertible bonds 58.5 62.7

Property mortgage 3.9 Swiss Franc 7.6 8.6
Paul Capital finance 11.2  U.S. Dollar 18.4 21.2
CRC finance EURIBOR + 5.85%/10.85% Euro 19.3 24.7
CRC finance LIBOR + 5.85% U.S. Dollar 16.8 21.3
Finance lease liabilities 5.5 Swiss Franc 0.1 0.2
Other non-current borrowings 62.2 76.0
Total non-current borrowings 120.7 138.7
Total borrowings 134.1 151.5

Bank overdraft and borrowings
At 31 December 2009 bank borrowings include an overdraft of Nil (2008: £0.2 million (CHF: 0.3 million)) and loan due of £1.2 million (CHF 2.0 million) 
(2008: £1.2 million (CHF 2.0 million)) with the Basellandschaftliche Kantonalbank. This loan can be terminated on six weeks’ notice by either party and
bears interest at 6.5 per cent. per annum. Both amounts are secured on the assets of Skyepharma AG.

Convertible bonds
In the year ended 31 December 2009 a total of 6,587 of the 6 per cent. convertible bonds with a principal value of £6.6 million were converted into
Ordinary Shares at the conversion price of £3.71 per share. This resulted in the issue of 1,775,467 Ordinary Shares.

In September 2008 the Group renegotiated its convertible bonds as follows:

The conversion price for the £69.6 million 6 per cent. convertible bonds due May 2024 was amended from 95 pence per share (with a nominal value 
of 10p) to £3.71 per share (with a nominal value of £1.00) and the put dates falling in May 2009, May 2011, May 2014 or May 2019 have been replaced
with put dates falling in November 2013, November 2015, November 2017 and November 2020.

The conversion price for the £20 million 8 per cent. convertible bonds due June 2025 was amended from 58 pence per share (with a nominal value 
of 10p) to £3.82 per share (with a nominal value of £1.00) and the put dates falling in June 2010, June 2012, June 2015 or June 2020 have been
replaced with put dates falling in December 2014, December 2016, December 2018 and December 2021.

The renegotiation of the bonds represents a modification to the existing liability, and was accounted for as such. Transaction costs incurred in the
renegotiation have been deducted from the book value of the liability and the effective interest rate used to calculate the amortised cost adjusted.

The bonds are included partly in non-current liabilities (2009: £58.5 million, 2008: £62.7 million) and partly in share premium (2009 and 2008: £28.5 
million). The total face value of the convertible bonds outstanding at 31 December 2009 is £83.0 million (2008: £89.6 million).

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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27 Borrowings continued
Property mortgages
At 31 December 2009, the Group had two property mortgage facilities with the Basellandschaftliche Kantonalbank totalling £8.0 million (CHF 13.1 
million) (2008: £9.0 million (CHF 13.7 million)). The mortgage is in two tranches, both secured by the assets of SkyePharma AG. Both bear interest at
3.875 per cent. per annum and are fully repayable in February 2011.

Paul Capital finance
On 23 March 2007, SkyePharma PLC and its subsidiary, Jagotec AG (together “Jagotec”) entered into an agreement with Paul Capital and a subsidiary
(together “PCRF”). Pursuant to this agreement, PCRF assigned its existing interests in the royalties and certain milestones from Solaraze®, Xatral® OD,
Triglide®, Pulmicort® HFA-MDI, Foradil® Certihaler® and Paxil CR ™ (“PCRF Products”) in exchange for a fixed amortisable senior note (the “Note”)
in the amount of  U.S.$105.0 million (£66.0 million) issued by Jagotec. Under the terms of the Note, minimum amortisation payments are U.S.$92.5 
million (£58.1 million) and these payments are increased by  U.S.$12.5 million (£7.8 million) beginning on 31 March 2011 if worldwide sales of
DepoDur™ reach certain thresholds. The Note is repayable on a quarterly basis in accordance with an amortisation schedule beginning on 
31 March 2007 through to 31 December 2015. The outstanding amount under the Note as at 31 December 2009 is U.S.$72.3 million (£45.4 million) 
(2008:  U.S.$83.6 million (£57.7 million)). 

The Note must be prepaid in certain circumstances, including 50 per cent. of any milestone payments for any Flutiform™ licence agreements or
50 per cent. of any signing fees with respect to Flutiform™ license agreements entered into with regard to any unlicensed territory, in each case
received after 1 January 2009 in an amount up to U.S.$10.0 million. Jagotec must also prepay the Note in an amount equal to 50 per cent. of the 
proceeds received upon the disposal of any of the intellectual property related to the PCRF Products. The Injectable Business was sold on the basis 
that it retained its obligations to PCRF to share royalties received in respect of DepoCyt® and DepoDur™ and to the extent that payments are made in
satisfaction of such obligations, the liability of SkyePharma PLC and Jagotec AG under the Note is reduced accordingly. SkyePharma PLC and Jagotec
AG have the option to prepay the Note by providing 10 days’ prior written notice. Such prepayment amount will be calculated at a discount to the 
remaining scheduled amortisation payments due more than 12 months after the date of prepayment at a rate of U.S. Dollar LIBOR plus 75 basis points.

The terms of the Note contain representations and warranties and covenants customary for agreements of this type. There is also a covenant
(negative pledge) not to grant security over Flutiform™ intellectual property, and the requirement for prior consent from PCRF for certain
transactions that could affect PCRF’s security and risk. The Note is secured by milestone payments and royalty receipts receivable by Jagotec under
license agreements related to the PCRF Products.

In connection with the Note, Jagotec granted PCRF a royalty-free, fully-paid up and worldwide, license or sublicense, as applicable, subject to
third party rights, limited to the right to grant sublicenses (through multiple tiers) under the intellectual property in the Products, which becomes 
operable following an event of default and in certain other circumstances, pursuant to a License Agreement dated as of 23 March 2007.

The liability was initially recorded at fair value, calculated by discounting the expected cash flows based on management’s estimation of a fair 
market rate at inception. Subsequently the carrying value of the Note is at amortised cost, calculated as the net present value of the expected
future minimum payments (net of amounts expected to be paid by the Injectable Business) discounted at 11.2 per cent. per annum (the effective
comparable interest rate at inception).

In 2009 contributions due from Pacira and the timing of prepayments (as described above) have been revised based on the latest forecasts, resulting
in an increase in the current valuation (at amortised cost). The income statement charge has been recorded in Note 12: Finance costs and income —
revaluation, and amounts to U.S$3.0 million (£1.9 million).

At 31 December 2009, the carrying value of the Note was £24.7 million (2008: £28.6 million).

CRC Loan
On 22 December 2006 SkyePharma PLC and various of its subsidiaries entered into an agreement with a specialist lending entity (“CRC”), advised by
Christofferson, Robb & Company LLC, for a 10 year secured amortising loan facility. This facility was amended on 23 March 2007. The loan was fully
drawn down in 2007.

Key terms of the CRC loan are as follows:

(i)  the total loans of  U.S.$35.0 million and €26.5 million are repayable over 10 years based on a minimum amortisation schedule. The schedule
was based on expected receipts from milestones and royalties in respect of Coruno®, Lodotra ™ and Requip® Once-a-day (the “CRC
Products”). In the event that the cumulative milestones and royalties from the CRC Products exceed the minimum principal and interest
payments, the excess will be applied to repay principal early without penalty;

(ii)  interest is charged on a quarterly basis on the U.S. Dollar facility at the three month U.S. Dollar LIBOR rate plus a 5.85 per cent. margin and on
the  euro facility at the three month EURIBOR rate plus a 10.85 per cent. margin on the first €7.5 million of the euro facility and a 5.85 per cent.
margin on the balance;
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27 Borrowings continued
(iii)  the loan facility was secured by a comprehensive security package, including pledges of shares of certain key subsidiaries, charges over

certain bank accounts, charges over certain intra-group debts, a floating charge over the assets of SkyePharma PLC and charges over or,
subject to third party consents being received, assignments of receivables in respect of the CRC Products and Sular® and ZYFLO CR®;

(iv)  there is a comprehensive covenant package, including a negative pledge, so further security over the Group’s assets may not be granted,
nor may certain other transactions that could affect CRC’s security and risk be entered into, without prior consent from CRC;

(v)  the loan must be prepaid in certain circumstances, including 50 per cent. of any milestone payments for any Flutiform™ license agreements
or 50 per cent. of any signing fees with respect to Flutiform™ license agreements entered into with regard to any unlicensed territory, in
each case received after 1 January 2009 in an amount up to  U.S.$10.0 million. Such prepayments comprise a capital element and an amount 
based on a pre-agreed schedule to compensate CRC for loss of future interest; and

(vi)  CRC was granted a royalty-free, fully-paid up and worldwide license or sublicense, as applicable, subject to third party rights, in favour of
CRC limited to the right to grant sublicenses (through multiple tiers) under the intellectual property in the CRC Products, which becomes 
operable following an event of default and certain other circumstances.

Interest on the U.S. Dollar portion of the CRC finance is charged at three month U.S. LIBOR + 5.85 per cent. As at 31 December 2009 LIBOR was 
0.2825 per cent. (2008: 3.76188 per cent.).

Interest on the first €7.5 million of the Euro portion of the CRC finance is charged at 3 month EURIBOR + 10.85 per cent. Interest on the remainder 
of the facility is charged at 3 month EURIBOR + 5.85 per cent. As at 31 December 2009 EURIBOR was 0.739 per cent. (2008: 5.142 per cent.).

At 31 December 2009 the timing of future prepayments (as described above) has been revised based on the latest forecasts, resulting in a small 
decrease in the current valuation (at amortised cost). The income statement credit has been recorded in Note 12: Finance costs and income —
revaluation and amounts to U.S.$.0.8 million (£0.5 million). 

The balance as at 31 December 2009 is £42.4 million (net of £0.8 million of costs) (2008: £49.5 million net of £1.0 million of costs).

Finance lease liabilities
Obligations under hire purchase and finance leases are secured upon the assets to which they relate and as at 31 December 2009 total £0.1 million 
(2008: £0.3 million).

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its borrowings and the related interest payments. The tables have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay and 
includes the prepayments forecast to be due to Paul Capital and CRC out of Flutiform™ milestones. The table includes cash flows for both interest,
based on rates applicable at 31 December 2009, and princip al amounts:

As at 31 December 2009
0 to 1 1 to 2 2 to 3 3 to 4 4 to 5 Over 5

Year Years Years Years Years Years
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 From 2015 Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Convertible bonds 5.4 5.4 5.4 68.4 21.6 — 106.2
Property mortgage 0.7 7.6 — — — — 8.3
Paul Capital finance 8.5 11.5 8.7 7.1 1.7 — 37.5
CRC finance 8.6 14.3 7.6 6.6 6.0 10.3 53.4
Finance lease liabilities — 0.1 — — — — 0.1
Bank overdraft and borrowings 1.3 — — — — — 1.3
Total financial liabilities 24.5 38.9 21.7 82.1 29.3 10.3 206.8

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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27 Borrowings continued
As at 31 December 2008

0 to 1 1 to 2 2 to 3 3 to 4 4 to 5 Over 5
Year Years Years Years Years Years

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 From 2014 Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Convertible bonds 5.8 5.8 5.8 5.8 75.4 21.6 120.2
Property mortgage 0.7 0.7 8.2 — — — 9.6
Paul Capital finance 6.5 12.5 6.2 6.0 5.8 (0.4) 36.6
CRC finance 9.2 15.4 10.0 9.5 8.1 19.4 71.6
Finance lease liabilities 0.1 0.1 — 0.1 — — 0.3
Bank overdraft and borrowings 1.4 — — — — — 1.4
Total financial liabilities 23.7 34.5 30.2 21.4 89.3 40.6 239.7

 The amounts for convertible bonds included in the maturity analysis above are based on the earliest put dates. As described above these were 2013
and 2014 for the 2024 bonds and 2025 bonds respectively subsequent to the modification to the terms on the bonds in September 2008. Interest is
calculated at 6 per cent. for the 2024 bond and 8 per cent. for the 2025 bond.

 The Paul Capital debt is included in the analysis above over a repayment period of 15 years, based on the amortisation schedule agreed on signing.
This excludes additional payments to be made if sales of DepoDur™ reach certain thresholds and any reductions for future sales-related payments by
the Injectable Business for DepoCyt® and DepoDur™. It includes additional payments of  U.S.$10 million due on receipt of the Flutiform™ milestones
received after 1 January 2009.

The CRC liability is included in the analysis over a repayment period of ten years. The maturity has been based on the minimum amortisation schedule
agreed on signing, modified to include additional payments totalling U.S.$10 million due on receipt of Flutiform™ milestones received after 1 January 2009.

The fixed rate property mortgage expires in 2011, at which date, if not renegotiated, will become a variable rate mortgage, repayable with 3 months 
notice by either party.

28 Provisions

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
Group Notes £m £m
Pension (a) 2.9 3.0
Other (b) 0.8 0.7
Total 3.7 3.7

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
(a) Pension £m £m
Beginning of the year 3.0 2.2
Exchange (0.1) 0.7
Utilised (0.4) —
Actuarial (gains)/losses (0.2) 0.1
Charge for the year  0.6 —
End of the year  2.9 3.0

£2.9 million (2008: £3.0 million) of the provision at 31 December 2009 relates to the Group’s retirement commitments under its pension scheme in 
respect of its employees in Switzerland and the Group’s leaving indemnity commitments in respect of its employees in France under French law, as
disclosed in Note 30: Retirement benefit obligations.  

 As at As at
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
(b) Other £m £m
Beginning of the year 0.7 —
Exchange — 0.3
Utilised — —
Charge for the year  0.1 0.4
End of the year  0.8 0.7

The remaining £0.8 million (2008: £0.7 million) consists of provisions for future legal actions relating to potential intellectual property infringements
and further restructuring costs. The charge is included within research and development expenses in the income statement.
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29 Financial instruments
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings and trade and other payables. The main purpose of these liabilities is to
finance the Group’s operations.

It is the Group’s policy that no speculative trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. The Group finances its operations through a 
combination of equity, convertible bonds, bank loans and other borrowings as disclosed in Note 27: Borrowings. The Board authorises all significant
agreements that may affect the Group risk structure.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and price risk.

(a) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to maintain continuity of funding through a mixture of long-term debt and bank loans, raised to cover specific requirements,
and through the issue of shares to collaborative partners, where necessary, to finance development contracts. Short-term flexibility is provided
through the use of overdrafts.

Responsibility for liquidity risk management ultimately lies with the Board. The Group aims to ensure that its liabilities will be covered by expected
cash balances and cash inflows. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining cash balances on short-term deposits to enable flexibility, and
ongoing monitoring of cash flow projections. Management reviews cash flow projections for the next 12 months on a monthly basis.

The Group has at its disposal undrawn facilities of £2.3 million to further reduce liquidity risk.

The maturity of the debt is disclosed in Note 27: Borrowings. As described in that Note, during 2008 the convertible bonds were renegotiated to
delay the earliest dates at which they could be called for repayment to match more closely the repayment dates with expected cash inflows from its
products, in particular Flutiform™ milestones and royalties.

(b) Foreign currency risk
Almost all of the Group’s operations are based in Continental Europe and sales are primarily in the United States and Europe giving rise to exposures
to changes in foreign exchange rates notably the Swiss Franc, Euro and U.S. Dollar.

To minimise the impact of any fluctuations, the Group’s policy has historically been to maintain natural hedges by relating the structure of 
borrowings to the trading cash flows that generate them. Where subsidiaries are funded centrally, this is achieved by the use of long-term loans, on
which exchange translation differences are taken to reserves. Where it has not been possible to use natural hedges, currency options and forward
currency contracts are used to cover material and reasonably predictable exposures. No options or forward contracts have been used during 2009 
or 2008. The facility with CRC is denominated approximately 50 per cent. in U.S. Dollar and 50 per cent. in  Euro, reflecting an approximation to the
currency of underlying sales giving rise to income, and is designed to provide a reasonable long-term hedge against currency fluctuations

In addition to the exposure to the U.S. Dollar, Euro and Swiss Franc, the Group is exposed to cross currency fluctuations, as subsidiaries’ operating
costs are often in currencies other than their functional currency.

The following table details the Group’s profit before tax sensitivity to a 10 per cent. increase and decrease in Sterling against the relevant foreign
currencies, with all other variables held constant. 10 per cent. is an illustration — a greater, or smaller change would have a pro rata effect on the
income statement. It includes foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10 per cent.
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number indicates a strengthening of the relevant currency. For a weakening there would be an equal 
and opposite impact on the profit, and the balances below would be reversed. The movements would have the same effect on the Group’s equity.

£m  £/$ £/CHF CHF/$ CHF/€
2009  0.4 (0.1) (4.0) (1.7)
2008  0.5 (0.2) (4.8) (1.8)

(c) Interest rate risk
The Group borrows at fixed and floating rates of interest as deemed appropriate for its circumstances. As some borrowings and all deposits are at 
floating rates the Group is exposed to interest rate risk. Although there are no current contracts the Group does, from time to time, use interest rate
swaps to achieve the desired interest rate profile. At 31 December 2009 approximately 74 per cent. of the Group borrowings are at a fixed rate of
interest (2008: 70 per cent.).
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29 Financial instruments continued
The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial assets and liabilities is detailed in Note 27: Borrowings.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared to show the effect of a 1 per cent. increase in market interest rates on interest income and expense. For 
floating rate liabilities the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability was outstanding at the balance sheet date. 1 per cent. is an illustration
however a greater, or smaller change would have a pro-rata effect on the income statement. A 1 per cent. decrease would have an equal and 
opposite effect on the change in profit before tax.

2009 2008
Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease) in
profit before tax profit before tax

£m £m £m
£ Sterling — LIBOR — 0.1
U.S. Dollar — LIBOR (0.2) (0.2)
Euro — EURIBOR (0.2) (0.2)

(d) Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-performance by third parties to financial instruments. The Group is exposed to
credit risks primarily from its operating activities, including trade receivables and from its investing activities, including bank deposits.

The creditworthiness of customers is assessed by reference to publicly available information, or information provided by those customers. In view of 
the nature of the business, most customers are either large, profitable, pharmaceutical companies or relatively small, in some cases, special purpose
vehicles, set up to develop defined products. Where such companies are not yet profitable the creditworthiness depends on their liquid resources 
and availability of future finance. In the present market environment such finance may not be as readily available as it has been in previous years, but
the Directors do not believe that this is a concern for current trade receivables.

Trade receivables are spread across a number of customers, and the balances are monitored on an ongoing and regular basis with a view to
minimising the exposure to bad debts. The maximum exposure is the carrying amount, as disclosed in Note 22: Trade and other  receivables.

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets in the Group, the maximum exposure is equal to the carrying value of the instrument. 
Funds are not invested in institutions or funds rated below A to minimise any risks. Significant investments require Board approval before being
authorised. The policy is to invest surplus funds with financial institutions or funds which have a high credit rating, and takes into account 
government support for or ownership of such institutions.

(e) Price risk
The Group is not exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments which have been classified on the consolidated balance sheet as at 
fair value through profit or loss and available for sale are fully impaired.

(f) Capital Management
The Group seeks to manage its capital to ensure that entities in the Group are able to continue as going concerns whilst maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the balance between intra-group debt and equity. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt,
as disclosed in Note 27: Borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, convertible bonds (shown partly in borrowings and partly in equity) and equity
comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained earnings.

Certain companies within the Group have capital maintenance obligations under local law and under their finance agreements, and these are
reviewed for compliance on a regular basis. All requirements have been complied with in the current year.
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29 Financial instruments continued
(g) Fair Values
Except as detailed below, the carrying value of assets and liabilities recognised at amortised cost approximate to their fair value: 

 2009 2008
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value

£m £m £m £m
Convertible bonds 58.5 18.3 62.7 48.3
CRC liability 41.6 32.8 46.0 46.0
Paul Capital funding liabilities 24.7 21.9 21.2 23.9

124.8 73.0 129.9 118.2

The fair values are determined as follows:

The fair value for the convertible bonds is based on quoted market prices at 31 December 2009. The quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price.

The fair value of the CRC funding liability is calculated using a discounted cash flow forecast. The interest rate used in the calculation is an estimate of 
the prevailing rate payable on an instrument with substantially the same terms and conditions at 31 December 2009.

The fair value of the Paul Capital funding liability is calculated using a discounted cash flow forecast. The interest rate used in the calculation is an 
estimate of the prevailing rate payable on an instrument with substantially the same terms and conditions at 31 December 2009.

30 Retirement benefit obligations
The liabilities in the Group balance sheet in respect of pensions and other retirement obligations are as follows:

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
£m £m

Balance sheet obligations for:
Retirement indemnity 0.7 1.1
Swiss pension benefits 2.2 1.9

Swiss pension plan
The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in respect of its employees in Switzerland. Both employers and employees contribute to the 
scheme and the pension at retirement is set at 6.8 per cent. of the retiree’s pension fund at that time. As explained in Note 2(x): Employee benefits,
the Group shares with the employees the risk that the future contribution rates may need to increase if investment returns, over a period of time, are
less than the amounts set by the government each year, or if the liabilities outweigh the value of assets due to experience factors.

As some of these risks match the criteria for accounting for a scheme as a defined benefit scheme, the Swiss pension plan is accounted for in 
accordance with IAS 19. The liability included in the balance sheet in respect of the Swiss pension plan is, therefore, the present value of the defined
benefit obligations less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses. Service costs are included
in staff costs and charged to income statement over the remaining average expected service lives of employees and are set at a level designed to
give a charge through the profit and loss account which is a level percentage of salaries.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:
As at As at

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Present value of funded obligations 9.7 10.7
Fair value of plan assets (7.5) (8.8)

2.2 1.9
Present value of unfunded obligations — —
Liability on the balance sheet 2.2 1.9
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30 Retirement benefit obligations continued
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
£m £m

Current service cost 1.2 0.9
Past service cost 0.6 —
Interest cost 0.3 0.3
Expected return on assets (0.3) (0.3)
Curtailment (0.3) —
Employee contributions (0.4) (0.4)
Total included in staff costs 1.1 0.5

The past service cost is a non-cash charge arising from surplus assets being allocated to employees as a result of the change in pension providers
during 2007.

The actual return on plan assets was £0.2 million (2008: £0.2 million).

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Beginning of the year 10.7 7.3
Exchange (0.5) 3.2
Current service cost 1.2 0.9
Past service cost 0.6 —
Benefits paid (2.1) (1.0)
Interest on pension scheme liabilities 0.3 0.3
Actuarial gains recognised in equity (0.2) —
Curtailment (0.3) —
End of the year  9.7 10.7

The movement in the fair value of the plan assets over the year is as follows:
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Beginning of the year 8.8 6.1
Exchange (0.4) 2.6
Benefits paid and withdrawals (2.1) (1.0)
Actuarial losses recognised in equity (0.1) (0.1)
Employer contributions   0.6 0.6
Employee contributions  0.4 0.3
Expected return on plan assets 0.3 0.3
End of the year  7.5 8.8
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30 Retirement benefit obligations continued
At 31 December 2009 and 2008 actuarial valuations were performed by professionally qualified actuaries on the present value of the accrued 
liabilities calculated under the projected unit credit method. The principal assumptions made by the actuaries were:

2009 2008
% per annum % per annum

Inflation rate 1.0 1.0
Rate of increase in salaries 2.0 2.0
Discount rate 3.3 3.3
Expected return on plan assets 4.5 4.5

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice in accordance with published statistics and experience in Switzerland.

2009 2008
Life expectancy at assumed retirement age Years Years
Male 17.9 17.9
Female 21.9 21.9

As at As at
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
£m £m

Actuarial gains recognised in equity 0.2 0.1
Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in equity 1.1 1.3

Plan assets comprise:
As at As at

31 December 31 December
2009 2008

£m £m
Equity 2.3 2.4
Other 5.2 6.4

7.5 8.8

Expected contributions to post employment benefit plans for the year ending 31 December 2010 are £0.9 million (2009: £0.7 million).

Amounts for the current and previous four periods are as follows:

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m £m

Defined benefit obligation (9.7) (10.7) (7.3) (6.6) (7.2)
Plan assets 7.5 8.8 6.1 5.6 5.3
Plan deficit (2.2) (1.9) (1.2) (1.0) (1.9)
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities  0.3 (0.2) — (0.1) (0.1)
Experience adjustments on plan assets  (0.1) (0.2) (0.1) 0.2 —

Retirement indemnity
The Group provides for a statutory retirement indemnity in respect of its employees in France, as described in Note 2(x): Employee benefits. The
liability as at 31 December 2009 is £0.7 million (2008: £1.1 million). 

Defined contribution plans
The Group operates various defined contribution plans for its employees in the UK. The Group’s contributions to these plans are charged in the 
income statement in the period to which they relate, and the assets are held in separate trustee administered funds. The income statement charge
related to defined contribution plans is disclosed in Note 10: Staff costs.
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31 Share capital
Company
The Company’s authorised share capital is as follows:

Authorised shares
31 December 31 December

2009 2008
£m £m

Ordinary Shares
140,000,000 Ordinary Shares of £1.00 each (2008: 140,000,000 shares of £1.00 each)  140.0 140.0
Deferred ‘B’ Shares
12,000,000 Deferred ‘B’ shares of 10p each (2008: 12,000,000 shares of 10p each) 1.2 1.2
Deferred ‘C’ Shares
7,334,899,200 Deferred ‘C’ shares of 1p each (2008: 7,334,899,200) 73.3 73.3

The changes in the Company’s issued share capital have been as follows:

Ordinary Shares Deferred ‘B’ shares Deferred ‘C’ shares
Total

Nominal Nominal Nominal nominal
value value value value

Issued and fully paid Number £m Number £m Number £m £m
At 1 January 2008 814,988,636 81.5 12,000,000 1.2 — — 82.7

Share split  814,988,636 8.2 — — 7,334,899,200 73.3 82.7

Share consolidation  8,149,888 8.2 — — — — —
Issue of share capital 
— cash  14,017,807 14.0 — — — — 14.0
At 31 December 2008 22,167,695 22.2 12,000,000 1.2 7,334,899,200 73.3 96.7
Issue of share capital 
— conversion 1,775,467 1.8 — — — — 1.8
At 31 December 2009 23,943,162 24.0 12,000,000 1.2 7,334,899,200 73.3 98.5

Share capital reorganisation
In September 2008 shareholders approved a reorganisation of the Company’s share capital consisting of a share split in which the 814,988,636 shares 
with a nominal value of 10 pence then in issue were split into 1 interim ordinary share and 9 deferred ‘C’ shares, both with a nominal value of
1 pence. As described below the deferred ‘C’ shares have no value.

The share split was immediately followed by a share consolidation from 814,988,636 ordinary interim shares of 1 pence each into 8,149,888  Ordinary
Shares of £1.00 each. 

The authorised Ordinary Share capital was increased from 118,800,000  Ordinary Shares of 10 pence to 140,000,000  Ordinary Shares of £1.00 each. 

Issue of shares
In 2009 Ordinary Share capital has been increased by 1,775,467 by the conversion of £6.6 million of convertible bonds.

In September 2008 SkyePharma PLC issued 14.0 million new  Ordinary Shares by way of a placing and open offer. The shares were priced at £1.50 per
share and raised £18.4 million, net of expenses.

Holdings by Trustees
The SkyePharma PLC Share Purchase Plan Trust supports the purchases of shares for the UK element of the SkyePharma PLC International Share
Purchase Plan. The holding as of 31 December 2009 was 15,592 shares (2008: 5,832 shares). The General Employee Benefit Trust supports purchases
of shares to satisfy the Company’s obligations to provide shares under any of its other share plans. The holding as of 31 December 2009 was 65,492
shares (2008 restated: 81,158 shares).
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31 Share capital continued
Deferred ‘B’ shares
In July 2000, 12 million deferred ‘B’ shares were issued to Dr Gonella, the vendor of Jago, under a settlement agreement that established the full and 
final settlement of the deferred consideration payable on the acquisition of Jago. The holders of deferred ‘B’ shares have no rights to participate in the
profits of the Company, no voting rights and on a winding up or other return of capital only receive the nominal value of their shares if the holders of 
Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company have received the sum of £100 million per Ordinary Share.

The deferred ‘B’ shares were transferred to the Company Secretary in 2006 for no consideration for him to hold as custodian and have no value.

Deferred ‘C’ shares
In September 2008 7,334,899,200 deferred ‘C’ shares were issued as part of the share split. The deferred ‘C’ shares created have no voting or dividend 
rights and, on a return of capital, the right only to receive the amount paid up thereon after the holders of Ordinary Shares have received £1 million
per  Ordinary Share held by them. Subject to the terms of the following paragraph, the deferred ‘C’ shares are not transferrable. The deferred ‘C’ shares
are, therefore, of no value and all of the value that is currently attributable to the existing Ordinary Shares is attributable to the  Ordinary Shares in issue 
following the implementation of the share split and consolidation. The Company may repurchase all of the deferred ‘C’ shares without making any
payment to the holders thereof. No application has been made for the deferred ‘C’ shares to be listed.

The rights of the deferred ‘C’ shares allow a reduction of capital which cancels the deferred ‘C’ shares for no consideration or a transfer of all the 
deferred ‘C’ shares to be executed by a person nominated by the directors on behalf of the beneficial owners. The purpose of this is either to have
the deferred ‘C’ shares owned by a single person who will assist the Company as necessary or to facilitate the purchase of such deferred shares by the
Company. Accordingly, the Directors may nominate the Company Secretary as the person to execute a transfer of all of the deferred ‘C’ shares in due
course.

Potential Issues of Ordinary Shares
(a) Employee share schemes
The Group encourages employee participation in its shares through ownership and continues to operate various incentive schemes whereby Directors
and employees are able to acquire shares, and potential shares, in the Company. Further details are provided in Note 32: Share-based payments.

(b) Deferred consideration on acquisition of Krypton
The deferred consideration on the acquisition of Krypton provides that a maximum of 375,000 Ordinary Shares (restated for the effects of the share
consolidation) would be issued contingent on a change in control of the Company at a share price of not less than £8.00 compounded at an annual 
rate of 10 per cent. (£30.49 as at 31 December 2009), or satisfaction of various conditions and hurdles which lapsed on 31 December 2003. No 
provision for deferred consideration has been recognised as at 31 December 2009 and 2008 as there is virtually no likelihood of the shares option 
being exercised.

(c) Convertible bonds
The terms of both sets of convertible bonds allow for conversion into Ordinary Shares, subject to certain conditions being met. The 6 per cent. 2024
bonds are convertible at a price of £3.71 per share. The 8 per cent. 2025 bonds are convertible at a price of £3.82 per share. The maximum number of 
potential shares that could be issued is 2 2,218,625.

Notes to the Accounts
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32 Share-based payments
The Group operates various share-based compensation plans as follows:

Option schemes
Options granted to  United Kingdom and European employees are only exercisable between the third and tenth anniversary of the date of grant,
and are subject to the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for dealing in Shares and the Model Code. Options granted to United States
employees prior to 2001 vest at 25 per cent. per annum from the date of grant and there were no performance criteria. UK and European options 
granted prior to 2001 may only be exercised if the growth in the Company’s share price over a consecutive three-year period exceeds the growth over
the same period in the FTSE  All Share Index. Employees with options that are within their exercise period are now able to exercise those options within
any one-year period from the date the performance condition is satisfied.

Following changes to the option plans approved at the Annual General Meeting in June 2001, options granted to Directors and senior employees
since that date are subject to performance conditions linked to the total shareholder return of a comparator group of companies, per cent. per
annum with no performance criteria, and other European employees who are not Directors or senior employees can exercise their options after
three years and are not subject to performance conditions. The Group’s option plans are detailed further in the Remuneration Report.

The following table summarises the activity in share options for the year ended  31 December 2009:
Share Option

options price
Beginning of the year (restated) 77,845 £23.75–£41.76
Cancelled or expired (33,478) £23.75–£41.76
End of the year 44,367 £23.75–£41.76
Exercisable 44,367 £23.75–£41.76

The weighted average exercise price as at 31 December 2009 was £35.23 (2008: £34.57).

The market value of Ordinary Shares as at 31 December 2009 was 88p. The market value of Ordinary Shares during 2009 ranged from the lowest
closing mid-price of 75.75p to the highest closing mid-price of £1.855 per share. No options were granted during 2009 or 2008.

At 31 December 2009 the following Ordinary Shares were under option to employees or former employees of the Group:

Option price Number of
for each options over

Ordinary Ordinary
Share Shares

Normal expiry date of £1.00 of £1.00
3 November 2010 £41.76 3,614
12 June 2011   £41.22 10,961
31 October 2011 £28.44 2,672
12 April 2012   £36.96 17,818
25 September 2012   £26.42 1,783
7 April 2013   £23.75 7,519

44,367

The weighted remaining contractual life as at 31 December 2009 was 2.12 years (2008: 2.29 years).

As stated above, no options were granted to employees in 2009 or 2008. For those options granted in prior years which impact the income 
statement, fair values were determined using an option pricing model based on Black–Scholes but adjusted to model the particular features of the
options. The fair value of these options is consistent with the values previously disclosed for SEC filing purposes.

The total expense relating to share-based payments, which are all equity settled transactions, is disclosed in Note 10: Staff costs.
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32 Share-based payments continued
Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) and Deferred Share Bonus Plan (“DSB”)
Under the rules of the pre-2007 plan, Directors and senior employees received conditional rights to acquire Ordinary Shares in the Company, at the
prevailing market rates at the time of grant. Eligible employees were awarded rights to acquire a maximum number of shares at the beginning of a 
three year period, a proportion of which they will be entitled to receive at the end of that period depending on the extent to which the performance
conditions set by the Remuneration Committee at the time the allocation is made are satisfied. If the performance conditions are not satisfied the
share award will lapse. Awards are either linked to the deferral of annual bonus (DSB Matching Share Awards) or stand alone share awards (LTIP
Awards). Further information on awards and performance conditions are detailed in the Remuneration Report.

In 2007 the Company approved a new LTIP under the rules of which Directors and senior employees receive conditional rights to acquire Ordinary
Shares, which subject to performance conditions, will vest and become exercisable in the case of nil cost options or be released in the case of 
conditional shares at the end of a three year performance period and the achievement of a share price target. For grants made in 2007 between
10 per cent. and 100 per cent. of the award will vest at the end of the performance period if the share price target of £18.64 - £29.29 or greater is
achieved, the exact percentage to be calculated on a straight-line basis between share prices.

For grants made in 2009, under the 2007 plan, between 10 per cent. and 100 per cent. of the award will vest at the end of the performance period if
the share price target of £2.40 - £5.80 or greater is achieved, the exact percentage to be calculated on a straight-line basis between share prices.
Further information on awards and performance conditions is provided in the Remuneration Report.

DSB Matching
LTIP Awards Share Awards

Beginning of the year 388,722 1,140
Granted  394,674 —
Forfeited (15,519) —
Cancelled or expired (60,658) (1,140)
End of the year 707,219 —

For the purposes of IFRS 2 the fair values of LTIP Awards and DSB Matching Shares Awards with market-based performance conditions have been
determined using a Stochastic model. The Stochastic model takes into account the market-based performance conditions attaching to these share
awards. The following table sets out the assumptions used in determining the fair value of the LTIP share awards granted during 2009:

Model Stochastic
Rationale
Date of grant  2 June 2009
Share price on grant (£)  £1.725
Exercise price Nil
Expected dividend yield n/a
Expected volatility 83.9%
Risk free interest rate 2.02%
Expected life 3 years
Fair value (£) 102.3

The expected volatility is calculated as the historic volatility of the Company share return over the three years prior to each grant date.

The total expense relating to share-based payments, which are all equity settled transactions, is disclosed in Note 10: Staff costs.
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32 Share-based payments continued
International Share Purchase Plan (“ISPP”)
All employees are eligible to participate in the ISPP whereby employees buy shares in the Company. These shares are called Partnership Shares 
and are held in trust on behalf of the employee. For every Partnership Share bought by the employee the Company will give the employee one
share free of charge (Matching Shares). The employees have to take their shares out of the plan on leaving the Company and will not be entitled
to the Matching Shares if they leave within three years of buying the Partnership Shares. In addition, the Company can also award employees
rights to acquire up to a maximum of £3,000 of shares (Free Shares). There are no vesting conditions attaching to the Free Shares other than being 
continuously employed by a Group company on the third anniversary of the date of grant. No Free Shares were awarded during 2009.

ISPP
Matching Shares

Beginning of the year (restated) 14,190
Granted  17,739
Forfeited (465)
Released (2,891)
End of the year 28,573

For the purposes of IFRS 2 the fair value of these Matching Shares and Free Shares is determined as the market value of the shares at the date of
grant. In determining the charge to the income statement, the Company has assumed that the number of share awards that will ultimately vest is 
not reduced.

One-off arrangement
In addition to the above plans, there was a one-off share-based arrangement put in place for the Executive Directors on their recruitment. Under 
the provisions of this special arrangement the Executive Directors were granted conditional rights to acquire Ordinary Shares (Matching Shares) at 
the beginning of a two year holding period linked to the number of shares purchased with their own resources. There are no vesting conditions
attached to these Matching Shares. Further information on these awards is detailed in the Remuneration Report.

Matching Shares
Beginning of the year 1,877
Released (1,877)
End of the year —

For the purposes of IFRS 2 the fair value of these Matching Shares is determined as the market value of the shares at the date of grant. In determining
the charge to the income statement, the Company has assumed that the number of share awards that will ultimately vest is not reduced.

The total expense relating to Share-based payments, which are all equity settled transactions, is disclosed in Note 10: Staff costs.
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33 Reserves
Treasury

Share Translation Fair value share Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve losses

Group £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2008 382.8 (4.1) (0.2) — (529.8)
Issue of share capital — cash  4.4 — — — —
Exchange — (20.7) — — —
Impairment — — (0.1) — —
Charge for the year  — — — (0.2) —
Loss for the year — — — — (28.7)
Share-based payments charge — — — — 0.8
Pension actuarial losses — — — — (0.1)
At 31 December 2008 387.2 (24.8) (0.3) (0.2) (557.8)
Issue of share capital — conversions 3.0 — — — 0.1
Exchange — 5.4 — — —
Impairment — — 0.3 — —
Loss for the year — — — — (1.4)
Share-based payments charge — — — — 0.8
Pension actuarial gains — — — — 0.2
At 31 December 2009 390.2 (19.4) — (0.2) (558.1)

Own
Share Translation Fair value share Retained

premium reserve reserve reserve losses
Company £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2008 382.8 — (0.2) — (283.3)
Issue of share capital — cash  4.4 — — — —
Loss for the year — — — — (9.7)
Exchange — 1.0 — — —
Impairment — — (0.1) — —
Charge for the year  — — — 0.4 —
Share-based payments charge — — — (0.2) 0.5
At 31 December 2008 387.2 1.0 (0.3) 0.2 (292.5)
Issue of share capital — conversions 3.0 — — — 0.1
Loss for the year — — — — (5.8)
Exchange — (0.4) — — —
Impairment — — 0.3 — —
Charge for the year  — — — 0.3 —
Transfer to income statement — (0.6) — — —
Share-based payments charge — — — — 0.6
At 31 December 2009 390.2 — — 0.5 (297.6)

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the income  statement of the Company is not presented. The loss of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2009 was £ 5.8 million (2008: £9.7 million).

Treasury share reserve consists of cash amounts paid to the Employee Benefit Trust to purchase matching shares for the various share-based
compensation plans.

Amounts included in the fair value reserve have been recycled to the income  statement in 2009, as the investments to which they relate are deemed
to be fully impaired.

Notes to the Accounts
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34 Other reserves
Merger Warrants
reserve reserve Total

Group and Company £m £m £m
At 1 January 2008 9.0 0.4 9.4
At 31 December 2008 and 2009 9.0 0.4 9.4

The merger reserve relates to the acquisition of Krypton Limited during 1996. The warrant reserve relates to the expired ‘D’ and ‘E’ warrants.

35 Commitments
Commitments under operating leases are as follows:

Group Group Company Company
As at As at As at As at

31 December 31 December 31 December 31December
2009 2008 2009 2008

£m £m £m £m
Commitments under operating leases
Operating leases on land and buildings: 
 In one year or less 0.4 0.5 0.4 0.5

In two to five years — 0.4 — 0.4
Total commitments under operating leases 0.4 0.9 0.4 0.9

In addition the Group has committed to undertake certain clinical trials on behalf of its partners under development and licensing agreements. The
Group is committed to make certain payments to third parties contingent upon future events such as the approval and launch of products, although
such payments may be funded from amounts received from development partners.

As at 31 December 2009 the Group is committed to purchasing €2.3 million (£2.1 million) (2008: €5.6 million (£5.4 million)) of assets relating to the 
Flutiform™ supply chain, not contractually funded by partners. One of the licensees for Flutiform™ is funding the purchase of €3.2 million (£2.9 million)
of fixed assets relating to the Flutiform™ supply chain, the Group is committed to repaying this funding no later than March 2013.

The Group is committed to certain minimum expenditure in respect of Flutiform™ from its suppliers in 2010 totalling €7.5 million (£6.7 million), and is 
committed to purchasing certain minimum volumes of Flutiform™ in 2011 and 2012.

36 Contingencies
At 31 December 2009 the Company had provided guarantees on various bank borrowings of its subsidiaries as set out in Note 27: Borrowings.

Where appropriate, the Company provides guarantees of performance obligations on behalf of its subsidiary undertakings. The Company has also
guaranteed the performance obligations for SkyePharma (Jersey) Limited in respect of the convertible bonds, including the obligation to meet any
puts when they fall due.

As described in Note 27: Borrowings, the Injectable Business was sold on the basis that it retains responsibility to Paul Capital for its existing 
obligations to make payments based on sales of DepoCyt® and DepoDur™. The Group retains responsibility for the full liability under the Paul
Capital Note whether or not these payments are made.

The Group is aware that intellectual property may exist in certain territories where, although it is believed that any intellectual property concerned
is invalid and/or that no activities are undertaken which would constitute infringement, the Group may wish to enter into negotiations and /or take
action to deal with these situations. Should any significant activity need to be undertaken in this regard the costs of dealing with these situations are
likely to be significant.
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37 Related Parties
Company
The Company has issued share options to employees of subsidiary undertakings and in accordance with IFRS 2 has made a charge of £0.2 million 
(2008: £0.4 million).

The Company has charged £1.7 million (2008: £1.8 million) to subsidiary undertakings and the Company was charged Nil (2008: Nil) by subsidiary
undertakings for corporate services provided.

The Company has intercompany loans and accounts with its subsidiary undertakings and details can be found in Note 20: Shares in and loans to
Group undertakings, Note 22: Trade and other receivables and Note 26: Trade and other payables. For balances designated as short term, interest
has been charged on the intercompany loans and accounts of European subsidiaries at 0.5 per cent. above one month LIBOR or 1.0 per cent.
above three month LIBOR. From 1 July 2007, most balances were designated as permanent with current balances being settled on a monthly 
date, so after this date intercompany interest was no longer charged. No interest was charged on intercompany loans and accounts to United 
States subsidiaries as these are regarded as permanent. 

There were no material balances held with associates at the year ended 31 December 2009 or 2008.

38 Principal subsidiaries
Subsidiary undertakings

Per cent. held of
nominal value

Country of and voting
Company incorporation rights Principal activities
SkyePharma Production SAS1 France 100% Manufacturing of pharmaceuticals
SkyePharma (Jersey) Limited1 Jersey 100% Issue of bonds
Jago Holding AG Switzerland 100% Holding company
Jagotec AG Switzerland 100% Exploitation of intellectual property
SkyePharma AG Switzerland 100% Research and development
SkyePharma Holding AG1 Switzerland 100% Holding company
SkyePharma Holding Inc.1 United States 100% Holding company
SkyePharma US Inc. United States 100% Business development

1 Directly held by the Company.

39 Post-Balance Sheet Events
On 21 January 2010 the Group announced the receipt of a Complete Response Letter from the United States FDA related to Flutiform™. The FDA
stated that it could not approve the NDA in its current form and raised a number of substantive issues to be addressed, which, if undertaken,
would involve significant additional clinical work.

Further to this on 5 February 2010, the Group announced the NDA was being transferred to SkyePharma, which enables SkyePharma to deal 
directly with the FDA in any discussions.

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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Glossary of Terms

Actinic keratosis (“AK”)
A pre-malignant skin condition, which may progress to squamous cell
carcinoma.

Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”)
US application for generic drug approval.

Anti-hypertensive agent
Treatment to reduce blood pressure.

Benign Prostatic Hypertrophy (“BPH”)
A common non-cancerous enlargement of the prostate gland, resulting in 
obstruction to urine flow.

Bioequivalence
Scientific basis on which drugs with the same active ingredient(s)
are compared. To be considered bioequivalent, the bioavailability of
two products must not differ significantly when the two products are
administered in clinical studies at the same dosage under similar conditions.

Blood lipid disorders
High blood cholesterol and/or triglycerides, resulting in increased risk of
atherosclerosis and heart disease.

Calcium channel blocker
Medicines which are mainly used to treat high blood pressure
(hypertension).

CFC
Chloroflurorocarbon

Circadian cytokine modulators
Circadian cytokine modulators are drugs that modify the levels of
pro-inflammatory cytokines at specific times of the day when they
will have specific therapeutic effects.

COPD
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, a group of diseases of the lungs in
which the airways become narrowed resulting in poor airflow to and from
the lungs, causing shortness of breath which is poorly reversible and usually
gets progressively worse over time.

Corticosteroid
A class of steroid hormones produced in the adrenal cortex. Used in a wide
variety of physiologic systems including stress response, immune response 
and regulation of inflammation, e.g. fluticasone for asthma.

DepoCyt®
An injectable version of cytarabine, a cytotoxic anticancer drug, developed
by Pacira Pharmaceuticals Inc (formerly SkyePharma Inc).

DepoDur™
An injectable version of morphine, developed by Pacira Pharmaceuticals Inc
(formerly SkyePharma Inc).

Dermatologics/dermatology
Medicines/the practice of medicines absorbed through the skin.

Double blind
A clinical trial design in which neither the participating individuals nor the
study staff knows which participants are receiving the experimental drug and
which are receiving a placebo (or another therapy). Double-blind trials are
thought to produce objective results, since the expectations of the doctor
and the participant about the experimental drug do not affect the outcome.

EBITDA
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

European Marketing Authorisation Application (“EMAA”)
Marketing Authorisation Application for European approval.

European Medicines Agency (“EMEA”)
European Union agency responsible for the evaluation and supervision of 
medicinal products.

EXPAREL™ ( formerly DepoBupivacaine™)
An injectable version of the anaesthetic bupivacaine, being developed by
Pacira Pharmaceuticals Inc. (formerly SkyePharma Inc).

Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”)
The United States agency responsible for evaluation and supervision of 
medicinal products.

Fenofibrate
A fibre-based drug that reduces lipid disorders and cholesterol levels in
patients by increasing high density lipoprotein (HDLs) and reducing low
density lipoprotein (LDL).

Fluticasone
The inhaled corticosteroid used in Flutiform™.

Formoterol
The long-acting beta-2-agonist used in Flutiform™.

Generic
A non-branded drug which is bioequivalent to a branded drug which 
usually becomes available following patent expiry.

Geoclock™
SkyePharma’s proprietary oral drug delivery platform which allows the
preparation of chronotherapy-focused press-coated tablets. Allows timed or
pulse delivery of active ingredients.

Geomatrix™
SkyePharma’s proprietary oral drug delivery platform which enables
customised levels of controlled release of specific drugs. It can achieve
the simultaneous release of two different drugs at different rates from one
tablet.

Glucocorticoid
A class of steroid hormones which includes cortisol.

GMP status/cGMP status
Good Manufacturing Practice or current Good Manufacturing Practice.
Control and management of manufacturing and quality control testing of
pharmaceutical products.

HFA
Hydrofluoroalkane is an environmentally friendly aerosol propellant which
has replaced CFCs . Used in Pulmicort® HFA-MDI and Flutiform™.
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Hypnotic
Drug to treat sleep disorders.

Inhaled corticosteroid (“ICS”)
A drug commonly used in asthma medications, e.g. fluticasone propionate
in Flutiform™ HFA-MDI.

IDD®
SkyePharma’s proprietary Insoluble Drug Delivery® technology platform
used in Triglide®. SkyePharma has a number of different types of insoluble
drug delivery technologies: MicroParticle, MicroDroplet and self emulsifying.

Inhalation
Drug delivery system using the airways and lungs.

LABA
A long acting beta-2-agonist. Asthma drugs designed to keep the bronchial 
airways relaxed and open over a 12 hour period, e.g. formoterol fumarate in
Flutiform™.

Leukotriene synthesis inhibitors
Asthma medications which seek to reduce the inflammatory impact of
leukotrienes.

MDI
Metered Dose Inhaler.

Milestone payments
Financial payments made upon the achievement of a pre-determined
target, e.g. the completion of a clinical study, filing for regulatory approval,
acceptance within a particular timescale or achieving certain sales targets.

NDA
New Drug Application is the document used in the United States as the 
basis for a marketing application (an application for approval to market
the product based on a full review of all quality, safety, and efficacy data,
including clinical study reports).

Non-benzodiazepine
Hypnotic agents, also known as “Z drugs” (zopiclone, zolpidem, zaleplon)
that are chemically different to benzodiazepines.

Open-label
A clinical trial where both the researchers and the participants know
which treatment is being administered (contrast with single and double
blind trials).

Oral
Oral drugs are delivered to the mouth, and absorbed either in the mouth or
the gastrointestinal system.

Paediatric
Relating to patients aged under 12 years.

PDCO
Paediatric Committee of the European Medicines Agency. Their main task is
to assess the content of paediatric investigation plans (PIPs).

Phase I
First stage of human clinical testing for toxicity in healthy human volunteers.

Phase II
Additional in vivo testing may be performed (also called pre-pivotal trials)
involving a small patient population to evaluate the optimal clinical dose.

Phase III
This is an expanded patient population, typically at dispersed sites. Also
called pivotal trials.

PIP
Paediatric Investigation Plans which are required to be assessed by the
PDCO of the European Medicines Agency.

Pre-clinical
In vitro (laboratory) feasibility study to determine whether, under laboratory
conditions, the formulation of the product candidates can be achieved.

Prophylaxis
Preventative treatments.

Randomisation
A method based on chance by which study participants are assigned to a 
treatment group. Randomisation minimises the differences between groups
by randomly distributing people with particular characteristics among all
the trial arms.

Safety study
A clinical study which measures the safety of a drug rather than its efficacy.

Titration
The process of gradually adjusting the dose of a medicine until the desired
effect is achieved.

Topical
For SkyePharma, drugs that are applied directly to the skin, e.g. Solaraze®.

Tumour necrosis factor alpha
A cytokine involved in systemic inflammation.

Glossary of Terms
continued
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Advisers

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
Apex Plaza
Reading
RG1 1YE

Solicitors
Fasken Martineau LLP
17 Hanover Square
London
W1S 1HU

Clifford Chance LLP
10 Upper Bank Street
London
E14 5JJ

Depositary
Bank of New York Mellon
101 Barclay Street
New York NY 10286
USA

Joint Corporate Brokers
& Financial Advisers
Credit Suisse
20 Columbus Courtyard
London
E14 4DA

Piper Jaffray Ltd
One South Place
London
EC2M 2BR
 

Bankers
HSBC Bank plc
70 Pall Mall
London
SW1 5EZ

Registrars
Capita Registrars
Northern House
Woodsome Park
Fenay Bridge
Huddersfield
West Yorkshire
HD8 0GA

WARNING TO SHAREHOLDERS – BOILER ROOM SCAMS

Over the last year, many companies have become aware that their shareholders have received unsolicited phone calls or
correspondence concerning investment matters. These are typically from overseas based “brokers”who target UK shareholders, offering
to sell them what often turn out to be worthless or high risk shares in US or UK investments. These operations are commonly known as 
 “boiler rooms ”. These “brokers” can be very persistent and extremely persuasive, and a 2006 survey by the Financial Services Authority
(FSA) has reported that the average amount lost by investors is around £20,000.

It is not just the novice investor that has been duped in this way; many of the victims had been successfully investing for several years.
Shareholders are advised to be very wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares at a discount or offers of free company reports.
If you receive any unsolicited investment advice:
■ Make sure you get the correct name of the person and organisation

■ Check that they are properly authorised by the FSA before getting involved by visiting www.fsa.gov.uk/register

■ Report the matter to the FSA either by calling 0845 606 1234 or visiting www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk

■ If the calls persist, hang up.

If you deal with an unauthorised firm, you will not be eligible to receive payment under the Financial Services Compensation Scheme.
The FSA can be contacted by completing an online form at www.fsa.gov.uk/pages/doing/regulated/law/alerts/overseas.shtml.

Details of any share dealing facilities that the Company endorses will be included in  Company mailings.

More detailed information on this or similar activity can be found on the FSA website www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk.
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